
NOTICE OF MEETING

Meeting Regulatory Committee

Date and Time Wednesday, 18th April, 2018 at 10.00 am

Place Ashburton Hall, The Castle, Winchester, SO23 8UJ

Enquiries to members.services@hants.gov.uk

John Coughlan CBE
Chief Executive
The Castle, Winchester SO23 8UJ

FILMING AND BROADCAST NOTIFICATION
This meeting may be recorded and broadcast live on the County Council’s website.  
The meeting may also be recorded and broadcast by the press and members of the 
public – please see the Filming Protocol available on the County Council’s website.

AGENDA

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

To receive any apologies for absence received.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

All Members who believe they have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in 
any matter to be considered at the meeting must declare that interest 
and, having regard to the circumstances described in Part 3 Paragraph 
1.5 of the County Council's Members' Code of Conduct, leave the 
meeting while the matter is discussed, save for exercising any right to 
speak in accordance with Paragraph 1.6 of the Code. Furthermore all 
Members with a Non-Pecuniary interest in a matter being considered at 
the meeting should consider whether such interest should be declared, 
and having regard to Part 5, Paragraph 2 of the Code, consider whether 
it is appropriate to leave the meeting while the matter is discussed, save 
for exercising any right to speak in accordance with the Code.

3. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING  (Pages 3 - 6)

To confirm the minutes of the previous meeting

4. DEPUTATIONS  

To receive any deputations notified under Standing Order 12.

Public Document Pack



5. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  

To receive any announcements the Chairman may wish to make.

6. DOWNTON MANOR FARM QUARRY, DOWNTON, MILFORD ON SEA  
(Pages 7 - 56)

To consider a report of the Director of Economy, Transport and 
Environment regarding planning applications for extension of the 
extraction area of the existing sand and gravel quarry and variations to 
conditions concerning completion of extraction and restoration at 
Downton Manor Farm Quarry, Downton, Milford on Sea. Application Nos. 
17/11406 and 17/11392. Site Ref: NF177.

ABOUT THIS AGENDA:
On request, this agenda can be provided in alternative versions (such as 
large print, Braille or audio) and in alternative languages.

ABOUT THIS MEETING:
The press and public are welcome to attend the public sessions of the 
meeting. If you have any particular requirements, for example if you require 
wheelchair access, please contact members.services@hants.gov.uk for 
assistance.

County Councillors attending as appointed members of this Committee or by 
virtue of Standing Order 18.5; or with the concurrence of the Chairman in 
connection with their duties as members of the Council or as a local County 
Councillor qualify for travelling expenses.

mailto:members.services@hants.gov.uk


1

AT A MEETING of the Regulatory Committee of HAMPSHIRE COUNTY 
COUNCIL held at the castle, Winchester on Wednesday, 14th February, 2018

Chairman:
* Councillor Peter Latham

* Councillor Judith Grajewski
* Councillor Christopher Carter
* Councillor Charles Choudhary
* Councillor Mark Cooper
* Councillor Roland Dibbs
* Councillor Jane Frankum
* Councillor Marge Harvey
 Councillor Keith House
* Councillor Gary Hughes

* Councillor Alexis McEvoy
 Councillor Russell Oppenheimer
* Councillor Stephen Philpott
 Councillor Roger Price
 Councillor Lance Quantrill
* Councillor David Simpson
* Councillor Roger Huxstep
* Councillor Wayne Irish
 Councillor Michael Westbrook

*Present
44.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies were received from Councillor’s Oppenheimer, House, Price and 
Quantrill. Councillor’s Huxstep and Irish attended as deputies. 

45.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members were mindful that where they believed they had a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest in any matter considered at the meeting they must declare 
that interest at the time of the relevant debate and, having regard to the 
circumstances described in Part 3, Paragraph 1.5 of the County Council's 
Members' Code of Conduct, leave the meeting while the matter was discussed, 
save for exercising any right to speak in accordance with Paragraph 1.6 of the 
Code. Furthermore Members were mindful that where they believed they had a 
Non-Pecuniary interest in a matter being considered at the meeting they 
considered whether such interest should be declared, and having regard to Part 
5, Paragraph 2 of the Code, considered whether it was appropriate to leave the 
meeting whilst the matter was discussed, save for exercising any right to speak 
in accordance with the Code.

46.  MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 

The minutes of the last meeting were reviewed and agreed.

47.  DEPUTATIONS 

It was confirmed that ten deputations had been received for the meeting. 

48.  CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

There were no Chairman’s announcements. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



2

49.  FOUR DELLS FARM POLES LANE OTTERBOURNE 

The Committee considered a report from the Head of Strategic Planning (Item 6 
in the Minute Book) regarding Four Dells Farm in Otterbourne, which was a 
retrospective application to regularise the biomass boiler and associated 
development and the waste operations.

The Chairman introduced the item and gave a Members a brief history of the site. 
The officer then introduced the application and showed Committee aerial photos of 
the site, along with location plans and elevations.

 It was highlighted that an update report had been circulated, which confirmed the 
following changes:

1 Representations: 

1.1 One additional public representation has been received, making a total of 16. This 
additional public representation raises concern about the impact on ground water, 
temperature inversion and environmental impact on the village of Otterbourne. 

2 Amendments to the report and clarification: 

2.1 The chairman has requested additional clarification of what development is being 
considered in this application. 

2.2 The principle of a biomass boiler being located and operated at this site in the 
countryside has already been established by Planning Permission 15/02770/HCS. 
This application is to consider retrospective permission for changes to the 
development permitted by 15/02770/HCS. The physical changes sought are listed in 
paragraph 5.2 and the operational changes in chapter 5.3 of the Report. 

2.3 To aid understanding of the development of the site, attached to this update 
report are the site plans for the original Planning Permission 10/01128/HCS for the 
waste recycling operation on the site (appendix A), for subsequent planning 
permission 15/02770/HCS for the biomass boiler development (appendix B) and for 
the current application (appendix C). Of particular note are the changes between 
appendix B and C, namely, the moving of the biomass boiler from the east to the west 
end of the existing waste building, the additional external development around the 
existing waste building and the extension of the waste site to the west. 

3 Site Emission Testing Report 

3.1 The applicant has submitted an air emission testing report to demonstrate 
compliance with their Environmental Permit. This information does not materially 
change the application. 

The Committee received 10 deputations on this item. Paul Murray, Gary Fowle, 
Ian Johnson, John O Neill and Ann Bailey all spoke against the application on 
behalf of local residents due to noise, emissions and effects on local amenity. 
John Venn spoke as the landowner and talked about many farmers diversifying 
their land to generate income. The operation was beneficial to society in helping 

Page 4



3

to reduce waste. Councillor Bob Jordan from Compton and Shawford Parish 
Council and Councillor Eleanor Bell from Winchester City Council and Hursley 
Parish Council also spoke regarding their concerns over the site and how it was 
managed.

Ian Firth and Glynn Brook spoke on behalf of the applicant and confirmed 
that management issues had been addressed, along with the noise problems 
linked to the steam let-down, which was now under control. Finally, County 
Councillor Jan Warwick addressed concerns regarding the site, including the 
management and out of hours monitoring and enforcement of the Conditions. 
Councillor Warwick also felt that the site was contrary to Policies 5, 10, 12 and 
14 of the Hampshire Mineral and Waste Plan.

During questions of the deputees, the following points were clarified:

 The plant was the only one that had had issues out of five run by the 
applicant, and the steam outages were now under control.

 A JCB was used in exceptional circumstances during weekends/Bank 
Holidays only to maintain the furnace temperature.

 The applicant was open to starting a liaison panel to improve and build 
communications between the site and local residents.

 The previous conditions were breached in error due to time pressures in 
repositioning the boilers on site.

 Vehicle movements were monitored and logged.
 The noise levels on site will continue to be monitored, but were currently 

felt to be appropriate.

During questions of the officer, the following points were clarified:

 A temporary permission was an option, although investment had already 
been made on the site and it was not a solution recommended by officers.

 Further expansion on the site would require planning permission should it 
be sought in the future.

 The majority of the heat produced is used to dry the product.
 The conditions were enforceable by Hampshire County Council.

Members agreed that a liaison panel would be very effective and a good way for 
the applicant and local residents to communicate with each other regarding an 
concerns. This would be added as an advice note.

The following minor changes to strengthen Conditions were confirmed:

Condition 6 would be updated to reflect the updated layout of the site. Condition 
10 would be amended to reflect that exceptional circumstances would occur on 
occasion.
Condition 12 would be reworded for clarity
Condition 18 would be amended slightly in line with the updates circulated.

RESOLVED:
Planning permission be granted subject to the conditions listed in integral 
Appendix B and the updates confirmed at the meeting.

Page 5



4

Voting:
Favour: 13
Against: 1

50.  MONITORING AND ENFORCEMENT UPDATE 

The Committee received a report from the Head of Strategic Planning (Item 7 in 
the Minute Book), which updated Members on Monitoring and Enforcement work 
undertaken by Strategic Planning during the period October 2017 – December 
2017.

In the table in Section 4 (Carousel Dairy – Basingstoke AD) it was highlighted 
that vehicle movements were now being monitored by Automatic Number Plate 
Recognition (ANPR) cameras, which had been purchased by HCC with 
contribution from the land owner and applicant.

RESOLVED:

Members noted the report.

Chairman, 

Page 6



HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

Decision Report

Decision Maker: Regulatory Committee
Date: 18 April 2018
Title: Extension of Downton Manor Farm Quarry to extract sand and 

gravel and for restoration back to agriculture at Downton 
Manor Farm Quarry, Downton, Milford on Sea  (Application No. 
17/11406) 

Variation of condition 2, 20 and 29 of Permission No. 16/10641 
(to adopt revised development, restoration plans and revised 
end dates to incorporate an extension to the quarry) 
(Application No. 17/11392)

At Downton Manor Farm Quarry, Downton, Milford on Sea 
(Site Ref: NF177)

Report From: Head of Strategic Planning

Contact name: Philip Millard

Tel:   01962 846496 Email: Philip.millard@hants.gov.uk

1. Recommendation

1.1 It is recommended that planning permission be granted for both planning 
application 17/11406 and 17/11392, subject to a Section 106 [S106] 
agreement for the provision of a permissive footpath and the conditions 
listed in integral Appendix B (17/11392) and integral Appendix C (17/11406).

2. Executive Summary 

2.1 Two applications have been submitted. One application seeks an extension 
to the extraction area of the existing sand and gravel quarry. The second 
application seeks associated variation of conditions of the current planning 
permission (16/10641) for the quarry to enable the extension:

 17/11406 – Seeks permission for an 18.4 ha extension to the west of the 
existing extraction area at Downton Manor Farm Quarry. This is for the 
extraction of sand and gravel and for the restoration of the extension site 
back to agriculture. This is an EIA application.

 17/11392 – Seeks variation of conditions 2, 20 and 29 of Planning 
Permission 16/10641 to adopt revised phasing for extraction and 
restoration and to extend the dates for the completion of extraction and 

Page 7

Agenda Item 6



restoration to accommodate the proposed extension sought in 
application 17/11406.

2.2 A committee site visit took place on 9 April 2018.

2.3 These applications are each dependent on the other. They are being 
considered by the Regulatory Committee as application 17/11406 is a major 
extension of an existing minerals site which is an Environmental Impact 
Assessment [EIA] development.

2.4 Key issues raised are: 
 Provision of sand and gravel;
 Ecological impact;
 Drainage and flooding;
 Amenity impacts of noise and dust; and 
 Restoration.

2.5 The proposed development is an Environmental Impact Assessment 
development under the Town & Country Planning (Environmental Impact 
Assessment) Regulations 2017. 

2.6 It is considered that the proposal would be in accordance with the relevant 
policies of the adopted Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) [HMWP]. 
It is considered that the benefits of the proposed development outweigh the 
impacts to amenity and the surrounding countryside landscape. The 
development provides an additional 760,000 tonnes of sand and gravel 
mineral resources. The method of extraction, the number of Heavy Goods 
Vehicle [HGV] movements and the mitigation of impacts such as noise and 
dust are consistent with the existing quarry development.

2.7 It is considered that the proposed extension to the extraction area of the site 
would not have significant detrimental impacts on its neighbours when 
considered with the proposed mitigation. The environmental impacts 
identified for the proposals have been addressed in the Environmental 
Statement and the applications. The proposed revised restoration plan for 
the entire site is considered satisfactory with benefits to ecology, flood 
management and public access.  

2.8 The proposals do include for a significant extension in the lifespan of the 
quarry site, for an additional 15 years from the date of permission (2033). 
Therefore the main impact of these proposals is due to the change in the 
lifespan of the quarry.

2.9 Recommendation for Planning Application 17/11406:

That subject to the granting of Planning Application 17/11392 to GRANT 
permission subject to the conditions listed in integral appendix C.

Page 8

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/571/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/571/contents/made


2.10 Recommendation for Planning Application 17/11392:

That subject to the granting of Planning Application 17/11406 and subject to 
all parties entering into a Section 106 Agreement with the County Council by 
18 October 2018 to secure the provision of the proposed permissive footpath 
for a period of 20 years as part of the phase 1 restoration scheme the 
Director of Economy, Transport and Environment be authorised to GRANT 
permission subject to the conditions listed in integral appendix B.  In the 
event that a satisfactory Section 106 Agreement is not entered into by all 
parties by 18 October 2018 then planning permission may be refused under 
the adopted scheme of delegation.

3. The Site

3.1 For the purposes of this report; ‘quarry site’ refers to the entire Downton 
Manor Farm Quarry land ownership, approximately 56 hectares [ha]. The 
‘site’ refers to the proposed extraction extension area within the quarry site, 
which is approximately 18.7 ha. The ‘existing extraction area’ is that area 
permitted for minerals extraction by existing Planning Permission 16/10641. 

3.2 Downton Manor Farm Quarry is a safeguarded minerals site through Policies 
16 (Safeguarding: minerals infrastructure) and 20 (Local land-won 
aggregate) of the HMWP (2013). The mineral resources in the proposed 
extension area are also safeguarded through Policy 15 (Safeguarding – 
mineral resources) of the plan.

3.3 The site is located to the south of the A337 Christchurch road, 1.3 kilometres 
[km] west of Everton and 2km east of New Milton. The quarry site occupies 
56 hectares [ha] with permission to extract sand and gravel in an 18.7 ha 
area through phased extraction until June 2018. The site will then be 
restored to lakes, woodland and agriculture by June 2019.

3.4 The Quarry was given planning permission by appeal 
APP/Q1770/A/06/2014823 in 2009. The appeal decision is now superseded by 
Planning Permission 16/10641. This is for the extraction of 810,000 tonnes of 
sand and gravel over a 6 year period from commencement of extraction. The 
application states that there is approximately 450,000 tonnes of minerals still 
to be extracted from the existing extraction area. Extraction commenced in 
2012 and phase 2 is currently being extracted and the restoration of phase 1 is 
close to completion.

3.5 The extension area comprises existing agricultural land that is regarded as a 
greenfield site as it is not previously developed land in the countryside. The 
extension area is also located within the South West Hampshire Green Belt. 
The whole quarry is relatively level with a ground fall towards the south and 
southeast corner of the site. The site is bounded by a mature woodland strip 
to its entire perimeter that provides screening and as such is not subject to 
significant overlooking. The site has mature hedgerows forming the 

Page 9



boundaries between agricultural fields around the existing extraction areas. 
The fields on the site are currently used by the operator to grow elephant 
grass. 

3.6 To the north of the site is the site’s offices and Downton Manor Farm, which 
consists of residential buildings owned by the operator and an agricultural 
soil blending operation. The site is adjacent to agricultural land to the east, 
residential properties along Downton Lane to the north-west and Blackbush 
Road to the south. Shorefield Holiday and Caravan Park is to the west. 

3.7 The quarry site has the following key environmental constraints:
 Blackbush Copse Site for Importance of Nature Conservation [SINC] lies 

to the south and east perimeter of the quarry site boundary;
 Hordle Copse and Pleasure Grounds SINCs are 380m to the south;
 Newlands Wood SINC is 360m to the east;
 Breakhill Copse SINC is 700m to the north; 
 The coast line Site of Special Scientific Interest [SSSI], Highcliffe to 

Milford Cliffs is 700m to the south west;
 Milford on Sea Local Nature Reserve is 700m to the south west;
 The site sits within the South West Hampshire Green Belt; 
 The site is approximately 2.3 km from the border of the New Forest 

National Park;
 Proposed extension is within an Area Susceptible to Ground Water 

flooding;
 Danes Stream runs 190m to the south, controlled water (B07) runs along 

eastern edge of the quarry site;
 The quarry site consists of agricultural land of North West is Grade 2 (very 

good– best and most versatile) in the north west, Grade 3a (good – best 
and most versatile) in the west and Grade 3b (moderate) in the south of 
the site;

 There is a historic landfill known as ‘The Squeak’ located between phases 
6 and 7 of the proposed extraction area to the south-west corner of the 
quarry site;

 New Milton: 717 Public Right of Way [PROW] footpath lies 110m to the 
west;

 A permissive path is to be installed as part of the approved restoration 
plan in phase 1, between Sorefield Lane/Blackbush Road (south) and 
Christchurch Road (north).

3.8 The nearest residential properties to the site are:
 On site, including Downton Manor Farm and other properties – at the north 

end of the quarry site;
 Along Downton Lane, 25m to the west;
 Along Christchurch Road, 50-200m to the north and north east;
 Along Blackbush Lane, 50m to the south of the quarry site.

Page 10



3.9 The excavation extension site has potential to impact the survival of un-
designated buried archaeological remains of regional value.  Approximately 
40m north of the site, to the north side of Christchurch Road are 3 grade II 
listed buildings; Downton Fields Cottage, Lea Green Cottage and Orchard 
Cottage.

3.10 The quarry site is located approximately 200m north of the extent of land 
covered by the Milford-on-sea Village Design Statement.

3.11 The site currently has permission for 100 HGV movements per day. Minerals 
extracted on the site are exported via the private haulage road onto the A337 
Christchurch Road for washing at either the operator’s site at Caird Avenue (New 
Milton, 3km west) or Manor Farm (Pennington, 4.6km east). The site’s operating 
times are 0700-1800 Monday to Friday with no working on Saturdays, Sundays 
or recognised Public Holidays.

4. Planning History

4.1 The planning history of the site is as follows:

Application 
no. 

Determin-
ation

Location Proposal Date 
issued

16/11116 Granted 
by NFDC

Downton Manor 
Farm Quarry, Milford 
on Sea

New service road through 
Downton Manor Farm 
Quarry to Shorefield 
Country Park : Alterations 
and extension to access 
road; gates; bund 

12.04.17

SCO/2016/0
816

EIA 
Scoping 
report 
issued

Downton Manor 
Farm Quarry, 
Downton, Milford on 
Sea SO41 0LB

Scoping Opinion extend 
Downton Manor Farm 
Quarry and a Section 73 
Planning Application 
which seeks the variation 
of planning conditions to 
incorporate the extension 
area and minor changes 
to the restoration scheme 
around the ponds

27.01.17

16/11370

Prior 
approval 
refused by 
NFDC

Downton Manor 
Farm Quarry, Milford 
on Sea

Use of barn as 3 
residential units; 
associated works (Prior 
Approval Application)

30.11.16

16/10641 Granted
Downton Manor 
Farm Quarry, Milford 
on Sea

Variation of condition 7 of 
Permission No. 
APP/Q1770/A/06/2014823 
(to increase daily lorry 
movements)

29.09.16

Page 11

http://planning.newforest.gov.uk/online-applications/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage
../../../TempFolder/Personal/HantsFile_View_envipc/170eb0b1/ApplicationDetails.aspx?RecNo=17810
../../../TempFolder/Personal/HantsFile_View_envipc/170eb0b1/ApplicationDetails.aspx?RecNo=17810
https://planning.hants.gov.uk/ApplicationDetails.aspx?RecNo=17281


16/10826 

Prior 
approval 
refused by 
NFDC

Downton Manor 
Farm Quarry, Milford 
on Sea

Use of barn as 3 
residential units; 
associated alterations 
(Prior Approval 
Application)

11.08.16

16/10774 Granted 
by NFDC

Land rear of 
DOWNTON MANOR 
FARM COTTAGES, 
CHRISTCHURCH 
ROAD, DOWNTON, 
MILFORD ON SEA 
SO41 0LB

Use of agricultural barn for 
horticultural processing, 
production, mixing, 
bagging, storage and 
distribution; infill open 
sides of barn with cladding

27.07.16

APP/Q1770/
A.06/20
14823

Appeal 
granted

Downton Manor 
Farm Quarry, Milford 
on Sea

Re-application for sand 
and gravel extraction, 
construction of a vehicular 
access and environmental 
banks, restoration to lakes 
woodland and small fields. 
Appeal decision 
superseded by 16/10641.

27.10.09

06/87884 Refused
Downton Manor 
Farm Quarry, Milford 
on Sea

Re-application for sand 
and gravel extraction, 
construction of a vehicular 
access and environmental 
banks, restoration to lakes 
woodland and small fields

11.08.06

82483 Refused
Downton Manor 
Farm Quarry, Milford 
on Sea

Extraction of Sand and 
Gravel, Constructing a 
Vehicle Access and 
Environmental Banks, 
Restoration to Lakes, 
Woodland and Agricultural 
Fields

03.12.03

79324 Withdrawn
Downton Manor 
Farm Quarry, Milford 
on Sea

Change of use of 
agricultural buildings to a 
waste recycling facility and 
formation of an access

27.10.03

050554M Withdrawn
Downton Manor 
Farm Quarry, Milford 
on Sea

Sand and gravel 
extraction, gravel 
processing and batching 
plant & ancillary facilities, 
landscaping

10.08.92

4.2 The minerals extraction operation at the site was initially permitted by the 
appeal decision of the planning inspectorate in 2009 in planning permission 
APP/Q1770/A.06/2014823. This was the appeal to application 06/87884 

Page 12

http://planning.newforest.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?previousCaseType=Property&previousKeyVal=_NEWFO_PROPLPI_70760_1&activeTab=summary&previousCaseUprn=100062679039&previousCaseNumber=_NEWFO_PROPLPI_70760_1&keyVal=_NEWFO_DCAPR_197535
http://www3.hants.gov.uk/hcc/index/mineralsandwaste/mineralsandwaste/mineralsandwaste/appeal-details.htm?id=89
http://www3.hants.gov.uk/hcc/index/mineralsandwaste/mineralsandwaste/mineralsandwaste/appeal-details.htm?id=89
http://www3.hants.gov.uk/hcc/index/mineralsandwaste/mineralsandwaste/mineralsandwaste/appeal-details.htm?id=89
http://www3.hants.gov.uk/hcc/index/mineralsandwaste/mineralsandwaste/mineralsandwaste/appeal-details.htm?id=89


which was refused by the Minerals Planning Authority [MPA] in 2006. 
Subsequent permissions have superseded the appeal decision. 

4.3 The site is identified in the adopted HMWP (2013) as a safeguarded site for 
the extraction of sand and gravel through policies 16 (Safeguarding: 
minerals infrastructure) and 20 (Local land-won aggregate). 

5. The Proposal

5.1 Planning Application 17/11406 seeks to extend the extraction area of the 
quarry site by 18.4 ha to the west of the existing extraction area. This is for 
the extraction of sand and gravel and for the restoration of the extension 
area back to agriculture.

5.2 Planning Application 17/11392 seeks a variation of conditions to the current 
Planning Permission 16/10641 for the site. That application would allow for 
the variations required to allow for the extension proposed in application 
17/11406. Of particular note is that it seeks a time extension to the quarry 
from the existing deadline of 9 June 2018 to 15 years from the date of 
permission.

5.3 The developments would comprise of the following:
 A physical extension to the extraction area at the site by 18.4 ha to 

provide an additional 760,000 tonnes of sand and gravel, at an 
extraction rate of between 70,000 – 150,000 tonnes per year;

 A revised phasing scheme which proposes a change in the order in 
which each area of extraction is carried out. This seeks to extract from 
areas closest to the boundaries of the site first (the proposed extension) 
and then to work back into the centre. This is in line with current best 
practice. Only one phase will be extracted at a time. As extraction of 
each phase is completed, restoration and aftercare will commence 
sequentially;

 A revised restoration plan for the entire quarry. Each phases’ restoration 
to be completed 1 year from the end of its extraction. This retains the 
ecological area in phase 1, and seeks to restore the rest of the site back 
to agriculture, in line with the existing restoration plan. This would 
include the importation of inert material to the site to maintain original 
ground levels to the new extraction area;

 A revised flood water management scheme for the entire quarry site 
wide to accommodate the proposed extraction and restoration of the 
extension;

 A revised route for the permissive footpath to be provided in the 
restoration of phase 1. This is to include a new S106 legal agreement to 
secure public access for 20 years;

 The use of straw bale walls to increase visual and noise mitigation to the 
new extraction areas; 

 Revised site management plans for noise and dust; and

Page 13



 An extension of time for the Quarry from the existing deadline of 9 June 
2018, by varying Condition 2 of Planning Permission 16/10641; to 15 
years from the date of permission (approximately 2033).

5.4 The existing site and the existing permitted extraction area can be seen on 
the Existing Site Layout drawing 26G-01-02 rev A.

5.5 The proposed extraction plan and phasing of extraction can be seen on the 
Proposed Extraction Phasing/Geological Plan drawing 26G-01-04 rev A.

5.6 The proposed stages of phased extraction and restoration can be seen on 
the Working and Restoration Scheme drawings 26G-01-05 rev A to 26G-01-
14 rev A. The final proposed restoration can be seen on the Revised 
Restoration Plan drawing 26G-01-15 rev B.

5.7 The proposal includes no change to the current permitted:
 Number of HGV (defined as vehicles over 3.5 tonne un-laden) 

movements to and from the quarry; 100 per day; 
 Site access via the private haulage road onto the A337 Christchurch 

Road; and
 The operating times of the quarry; 0700-1800 Monday to Friday with no 

working on Saturdays, Sundays or recognised public holidays.

5.8 Following consultation, the following additions have been made to the 
proposal by the applicant:
 For the proposed operating hours in Phases 3 to 8 to be 0800 to 1800 

Monday to Friday, with no working on Saturdays, Sundays and Public 
Holidays. The remainder of the site work keep the existing operation 
times of 0700-1800.

5.9 The proposed development has been assessed under Town & Country 
Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017. The 
development is classified as a Schedule 2 development as it falls within 
Category 13 (Changes and extensions), section (a) (i), as the proposed 
development is an extension of a development listed in Schedule 1 and 
exceeds the size threshold. An Environmental Statement has been supplied 
by the applicant and has been considered alongside the application 
documents.

6. Development Plan and Guidance

6.1 The following plans and associated policies are considered to be relevant to 
the proposal: 

National Planning Policy Framework (2012) [NPPF]

6.2 The following paragraphs are relevant to this proposal:
 Paragraph 11: Determination in accordance with the development plan;

Page 14

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/571/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/571/contents/made
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/6077/2116950.pdf


 Paragraph 14: Presumption in favour of sustainable development;
 Paragraph 17: Set of core land-use planning principles which should 

underpin decision-taking;
 Paragraph 19: Support of sustainable economic growth;
 Paragraph 28: Support economic growth in rural areas; 
 Paragraph 75: Enhance public rights of way and access; 
 Paragraph 90: Developments not inappropriate in the Green Belt; 
 Paragraph 112:  Soils;
 Paragraph 118: Conserving and enhancing the natural environment;
 Paragraph 142: Supply of minerals; 
 Paragraph 144: Determining mineral planning applications; and
 Paragraph 145:  Planning for a steady and adequate supply of 

aggregates 

National Planning Practice Guidance (Live) [NPPG]

6.3 In particular the section on Minerals. The following paragraphs are relevant 
to the proposal:
 What are mineral resources and why is planning permission required? 

(Paragraph: 001 Reference ID: 27-001-20140306 - Revision date: 06 03 
2014);

 Under what circumstances would it be preferable to focus on extensions 
to existing sites rather than plan for new sites? (Paragraph: 010 
Reference ID: 27-010-20140306 - Revision date: 06 03 2014);

 How and when are the details of any significant environmental impacts 
best addressed? (Paragraph: 011 Reference ID: 27-011-20140306 - 
Revision date: 06 03 2014);

 What is the relationship between planning and other regulatory regimes? 
(Paragraph: 012 Reference ID: 27-012-20140306 - Revision date: 06 03 
2014); 

 How should mineral operators seek to minimise the impact of 
development upon properties and the local environment in close 
proximity to mineral workings? (Paragraph: 015 Reference ID: 27-015-
20140306 - Revision date: 06 03 2014);

 How should minerals operators seek to control noise emissions? 
(Paragraph: 019 Reference ID: 27-019-20140306 - Revision date: 06 03 
2014);

 How should mineral planning authorities determine the impact of noise? 
(Paragraph: 020 Reference ID: 27-020-20140306 - Revision date: 06 03 
2014);

 What are the appropriate noise standards for mineral operators for 
normal operations? (Paragraph: 021 Reference ID: 27-021-20140306 - 
Revision date: 06 03 2014);

 What type of operations may give rise to particularly noisy short-term 
activities and what noise limits may be appropriate? (Paragraph: 022 
Reference ID: 27-022-20140306 - Revision date: 06 03 2014);

Page 15

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/minerals
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/minerals


 How should mineral operators seek to minimise dust emissions? 
(Paragraph: 023 Reference ID: 27-023-20140306 - Revision date: 06 03 
2014);

 How much detail on restoration and aftercare should be provided with 
the planning application? (Paragraph: 040 Reference ID: 27-040-
20140306- Revision date: 06 03 2014); 

 What is the relationship between planning and other regulatory regimes? 
(Paragraph: 050 Reference ID: 28-050-20141016, Revision date: 16 10 
2014); and

 Is a landbank above the minimum level justification to refuse planning 
permission? (Paragraph: 084 Reference ID: 27-084-20140306 - Revision 
date: 06 03 2014). 

Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan (2013) (HMWP) 

6.4 The following policies are relevant to the proposal: 
 Policy 1 (Sustainable minerals and waste development);
 Policy 2 (Climate change – mitigation and adaptation);
 Policy 3 (Protection of habitats and species);
 Policy 4 (Protection of the designated landscape);
 Policy 5 (Protection of the countryside);
 Policy 6 (South West Hampshire Green Belt);
 Policy 7 (Conserving the historic environment and heritage assets);
 Policy 8 (Protection of soils);
 Policy 9 (Restoration of quarries and waste developments);
 Policy 10 (Protecting public health, safety and amenity);
 Policy 11 (Flood risk and prevention);
 Policy 12 (Managing traffic); 
 Policy 13 (High-quality design of minerals and waste development);
 Policy 14 (Community benefits);
 Policy 15 (Safeguarding - mineral resources);
 Policy 16 (Safeguarding - minerals infrastructure); 
 Policy 17 (Aggregate supply – capacity and source); and
 Policy 20 (Local land-won aggregates).

New Forest Core Strategy (2009) (part 1) [NFCS]
New Forest Local Plan Section 2: Development Management Policies (2014) 
[NFLPS2]

6.5 The relevant policies are as follows - New Forest Core Strategy (2009) (part 
1):
 Policy CS3 (Protecting and enhancing our special environment  

(Heritage and Nature Conservation)); and
 Policy CS5 (Safe and healthy communities). 

6.6 The relevant policies are as follows - New Forest Local Plan Section 2: 
Development Management Policies (Adopted: 2014):

Page 16

http://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf
http://www.newforest.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=12401&p=0
http://www.newforest.gov.uk/article/14184/Local-Plan-Part-2-Sites-and-Development-Management
http://www.newforest.gov.uk/article/14184/Local-Plan-Part-2-Sites-and-Development-Management


 Policy DM2 (Nature conservation, biodiversity and geodiversity); and
 Policy DM26 (Development generating significant freight movements).

6.7 The quarry site is located approximately 200m north of the extent of land 
covered by the Milford-on-sea Village Design Statement.

7. Consultations and Equalities

7.1 Consultation was carried out in accordance with the Statement of 
Community Involvement. The proposals were subsequently re-publicised on 
two occasions in order to allow for the consultation and public consideration 
of further information submitted by the applicant. Set out below are the final 
consultation responses of the consultees. The responses for both 
applications have been combined for each consultee.

7.2 County Councillor Carpenter: Has no objection with concern about 
residential amenity, dust and noise and the entrance to the proposed 
footpath on Shorefield Lane leading from Blackbush Road.

7.3 County Councillor Kendal: Was notified of the proposal.

7.4 Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA): The final consultation response was 
no objection with condition that the site drainage and water flow is managed 
as per the information submitted.

7.5 Planning Policy (Hampshire County Council): Provided information on 
the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013). 

7.6 Environment Agency: Has no objection.

7.7 Local Highway Authority: Has no objection subject to retention of all 
previous highways conditions.

7.8 County Ecology (Hampshire County Council): The final consultation 
response was no objection with conditions to ensure the following:
 The inclusion of a grass strip to act as a buffer and foraging/commuting 

habitat for reptiles;
 The inclusion of additional foraging and commuting bat installations to 

mitigate against impact on bats during the works;
 Measures to ensure that the maintenance and removal of the proposed 

balel walls will not result in the killing/injury of protected and notable 
species;

 A precautionary hedgerow clearance method to be adopted to mitigate 
impact on dormice and other herpetofauna and small mammals; and

 A detailed strategy for planting and management of the proposed 
restoration to provide site-wide biodiversity enhancement features.

Page 17

http://www.newforest.gov.uk/media/adobe/MilfordDesignGuide.pdf
http://documents.hants.gov.uk/planning-strategic/HampshireStatementofCommunityInvolvementAdoptedNovember2017.pdf
http://documents.hants.gov.uk/planning-strategic/HampshireStatementofCommunityInvolvementAdoptedNovember2017.pdf
http://www3.hants.gov.uk/mw-attachment?location=planning%5C15-02619-HCS%5Cconsultees%5CLead%20Local%20Flood%20Authority.pdf


7.9 County Archaeology (Hampshire County Council): Has no objection with 
condition to secure the existing archaeological provision for evaluation and 
mitigation is extended into the area proposed for new extraction.

7.10 County Landscape Architect (Hampshire County Council): Has no 
objection following submission of the Revised Restoration Plan.

7.11 New Forest District Council, Environmental Health Officer (Pollution): 
Has no objection with conditions listed with respect to noise, and to submit 
and have approved an updated dust management and mitigation scheme.

7.12 New Forest District Council, Environmental Health Officer (Protection): 
Has no objection with conditions listed with respect to an updated dust 
management and mitigation scheme, and the retention of the existing 
condition limited daily HGV movements to and from the site.

7.13 New Forest District Council: Has no objection.
 
7.14 Lymington & Pennington Town Council: Was notified of the proposal.

7.15 Milford on Sea Parish Council: Was notified of the proposal.

7.16 New Forest National Park Authority: No objection with concerns as listed 
in its response.

7.17 Conservation Officer - New Forest District Council: Was notified of the 
proposal.

7.18 Rights of Way Manager (Hampshire County Council): Welcome the 
creation of the proposed permitted footpath but request that the route be 
constructed to Countryside Service Design Standards and dedicated as a 
public footpath under common law.

7.19 Natural England: Was notified of the proposal. Any comments will be 
included in the Regulatory Committee meeting presentation.

8. Representations

8.1 Hampshire County Council’s Statement of Community Involvement (2017) 
(SCI) sets out the adopted consultation and publicity procedures associated 
with determining planning applications.

8.2 In complying with the requirements of the SCI, Hampshire County Council:
 Published a notice of the application in the Hampshire Independent;
 Placed notices of the application at the application site and local area, 

extending the period of neighbour consultation;
 Consulted all statutory and non-statutory consultees in accordance with 

The Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
(England) Order 2015; and

Page 18

http://www3.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/sci-2.htm
http://www3.hants.gov.uk/publicnotices/public-notice-publication.htm
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/595/article/2/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/595/article/2/made


 Notified by letter all residential properties within 100 metres of the 
boundary of the site.

8.3 As of 29 March 2018, a total of 4 representations to the proposed 
applications have been received. All 4 object to the proposal. This included a 
review of the Noise Impact Assessment from the neighbouring caravan park. 
The main areas of concern raised in the objections relate to the following 
areas:
 Highway safety, in particular on the A337 Christchurch Road;
 The need for the minerals;
 Impact on wildlife; 
 Amenity impact from noise, vibration and dust including questions on the 

integrity of the proposed noise mitigation; and
 Restoration.

8.4 The above issues will be addressed within the following commentary. 

9. Commentary

Development Plan/Policy context/Principle of the development

9.1 Application 17/11406 for the extension of the extraction area of the quarry is 
an Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) development. An Environmental 
Statement [ES] was submitted as part of the application. This was based 
upon the Scoping Opinion (SCO/2016/0816) issued by the Minerals Planning 
Authority in January 2017.

9.2 In general, it is considered that the ES satisfactorily covers the potential 
environmental impacts of the proposed development. A number of 
consultation responses raised the need for further clarification, in particular, 
for ecological and flooding issues.

9.3 The Downton Manor Farm Quarry site is safeguarded in the HMWP (2013) 
as  an existing sharp sand and gravel quarry through Policies 15 
(Safeguarding – mineral resources), 16 (Safeguarding – mineral 
infrastructure) and 20 (Local land-won aggregate) of the Plan. 

9.4 Current permissions give an existing target restoration completion date of 
June 2018.

Demonstration of need for mineral resource

9.5 Paragraph 142 of the NPPF (2012) highlights the importance of minerals in 
supporting sustainable economic growth and our quality of life. It also 
highlights how important it is to ensure that there is a sufficient supply of 
material to provide the infrastructure, buildings, energy and goods that the 
country needs. 

Page 19



9.6 Minerals are a finite natural resource, and can only be worked where they 
are found. The proposed extended extraction would contribute to the 
County’s aggregate supply in accordance with Policy 17 (Aggregate supply – 
capacity and source). The Local Aggregate Assessment (2017) states that 
Hampshire currently has a 5.31 year landbank for sharp sand and gravel 
(see table 3). This is below the minimum 7 years land bank required by 
paragraph 145 of the NPPF (2012). There is therefore a need for further 
extraction of sharp sand and gravel to help the county meet it’s 
apportionment. 

9.7 Policy 20 (Local land-won aggregates) lists the site for extraction of 
remaining reserves to contribute to the County’s landbank and provide an 
adequate and steady supply of sand and gravel. Downton Manor Quarry is 
listed as one of the sites in part 1 of the policy. The quarry or the extension 
area are not identified in parts 2 or 3 of the policy which consider extensions 
of existing sites and new sites respectively. Any further extension of the 
quarry would therefore need to meet part 4 of the policy which considers 
Proposals for new sites outside the sites identified in Policy 20.

9.8 The proposals meet point 4.a. of the Policy in that they maximise the use of 
existing plant and infrastructure and available mineral resources at an 
existing associated quarry. In addition, the supporting statement for planning 
application 17/11406 states that this increase in minerals extraction is to 
address local demand. 

9.9 Public representations raise concerns about the level of supply deficiency 
within the immediate local area to the site rather than Hampshire as a whole. 
The south-west Hampshire area has traditionally supplied sand and gravel to 
the west Hampshire, Bournemouth and Poole market areas. The County 
Council and its partners have a duty to plan for aggregate for the whole of 
the plan area. This means that the demand for aggregate and supply in the 
county area is calculated at a county level through the HMWP (2013) and 
the Local Aggregate Assessment and not in more localised areas. Whilst the 
supply of aggregates for the rest of Hampshire has decreased, the LAA 
(2017) shows that production in south-west Hampshire has increased. The 
proposal would provide an important contribution to meeting the demand for 
aggregates in the local market area, as well as contributing to Hampshire 
meetings its apportionment. 

9.10 It is considered that the proposed extension to the extraction area at the site 
would secure additional sand and gravel supply for Hampshire and therefore 
would be in accordance with Policy 17 (Aggregate supply – capacity and 
source) of the HMWP 2013. The proposed development also enhances 
capacity for minerals supply at the site, ensuring the sterilisation of the 
minerals resources does not occur and does not cause a hindrance to 
mineral development at the site. The proposal is therefore also considered to 
be in accordance with Policies 15 (Safeguarding - mineral resources) 16 
(Safeguarding - minerals infrastructure) and 20 (Local land-won aggregate) 
of the HMWP 2013.

Page 20

http://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/2017LocalAggregateAssessment.pdf


Impact on the National Park, countryside and Green Belt

9.11 The site is located approximately 2.3 km from the boundary of the New 
Forest National Park. The Consultation response from the National Park 
Authority highlights concern over the potentially significant impacts on the 
National Park from HGV movements associated with the proposed 
extension, especially as any movements to and from the site leaving the 
local area will be required to travel through the Park. The planning 
application states that all HGV to and from the site will travel to processing 
sites in the local area and will not travel into the National Park. The 
proposals are therefore considered to not have a significant detrimental 
increase in impact to the New Forest National Park and so is not in conflict 
with Policy 4 (Protection of the designated landscape) of the HMWP 2013.

9.12 The extension site is located on undeveloped land in the open countryside. 
The proposed development is a time limited minerals extraction that is 
considered to meet the highest standards of design, operation and 
restoration. The proposed restoration scheme will provide equivalent or 
better agricultural land than existing, as well as improved biodiversity and 
public access. Therefore the proposals are in accordance with Policy 5 
(Protection of the countryside) of the HMWP 2013.

9.13 The extension site is also located within the South West Hampshire Green 
Belt. Paragraph 90 of the NPPF (2012) makes its clear that mineral 
extraction is a form of development not considered to be inappropriate in 
Green Belt provided that it  preserves the openness of the Green Belt and 
does not conflict with the purposes of including land in Green Belt. This is 
reflected in Policy 6 (South West Hampshire Green Belt) which states that 
minerals developments will be approved within the South West Hampshire 
Green Belt provided they are not inappropriate. As far as possible, minerals 
development should enhance the beneficial use of the Green Belt and the 
highest standards of development, operation and restoration will be required.

9.14 The proposal is for a temporary minerals development. The ES and the 
application documents demonstrate that the restoration of the site would be 
of a high standard and would provide beneficial use of the land through the 
restoration of agricultural land, ensuring managed post restoration drainage, 
biodiversity improvements and a permitted footpath to provide temporary 
public access. Therefore it is considered that the proposals are in 
accordance with Paragraph 90 of the NPPF (2012) and Policy 6 (South West 
Hampshire Green Belt) of the HMWP 2013.

Visual impact, design and landscape 

9.15 Policy 13 (High-quality design of minerals and waste development) of the 
HMWP (2013) requires that minerals development should not cause an 
unacceptable adverse visual impact and should maintain and enhance the 
distinctive character of the landscape. Policy 10 (Protecting public health, 

Page 21



safety and amenity) of the HMWP (2013) protects residents from significant 
adverse visual impact.

9.16 Policy CS3 (Protecting and enhancing our special environment (heritage and 
nature conservation) of the New Forest Core Strategy [NFCS] (2009) states 
new developments should maintain local distinctiveness and where possible 
enhance the character of identified features. Measures shall be taken, 
working with other partners, to secure the enhancement, restoration and 
creation of biodiversity. 

9.17 The consultation response from County Landscape is no objection in 
principle, as the final landscape restoration plan and phased working 
appears to respect both the surrounding landscape and prior land use with 
reasonable sensitivity to the landscape, adjacent land users and community 
during extraction operations. 

9.18 County Landscape state their no objection is subject to the following issues 
being satisfied: 
 ensuring compliance with the Arboricultural Method Statement; 
 ensuring that the County Ecologist and Flood and Water Management 

Team are satisfied with the ecological and drainage issues on the site; 
 the provision and approval of fully detailed planting plans, planting 

specification and a 5-10 year Maintenance, Management and 
Establishment plan; 

 The provision of fully detailed construction and maintenance plans for 
the temporary straw bale bunds. 

9.19 Conditions have been recommended to require the submission of an 
Arboricultural Method Statement, planting plans and ecological and drainage 
mitigation. The applicant has submitted additional information in the form of 
a Bale Wall Management Statement and Bale Wall Design drawing which 
address the construction and maintenance of the bail bunds.

9.20 County Landscape also requested an increase in proposed woodland 
planting around the main entrance in order to better screen views into the 
site. The applicant has provided this as identified as P17 on the Revised 
Restoration Plan (26G-01-15 Rev B) submitted in February 2018.

9.21 Therefore the proposals are in accordance with Policies 13 (High-quality 
design of minerals and waste development) and 10 (Protecting public health, 
safety and amenity) with respect to landscape. It is considered that the 
proposals are in accordance with NFCS (2009) Policy CS3 (Protecting and 
enhancing our special environment (heritage and nature conservation) with 
respect to a restoration scheme that shall maintain local distinctiveness and 
enhance the visual character of the site. 

Page 22



Flooding

9.22 Policy 11 (Flood risk and prevention) of the HMWP (2013) relates to 
minerals and waste development in flood risk areas and sets criteria which 
developments should be consistent with relating to flood risk offsite, flood 
protection, flood resilience and resistance measures, design of drainage, net 
surface water run-off and Sustainable Drainage Systems. 

9.23 The initial Lead Local Flood Authority [LLFA] consultation response 
requested further information in the form of full calculations and hydrological 
assessment to support the information provided in chapter 8 of the ES. This 
was required to demonstrate the impact to water flow and drainage provision 
during extraction and post restoration.

9.24 The applicant provided this information and the final consultation response 
from the LLFA is for no objection subject to a condition that the site drainage 
and water flow in managed as per the information submitted. The information 
provided has demonstrated that the proposals for surface water drainage 
meet the current standards/best practice in relation to surface water 
drainage. This includes for an additional water storage lake in the phase 8 
area of the site. The lake is shown on the Revised Restoration Plan (26G-
01-15 Rev B) submitted in February 2018. Therefore the proposal is 
considered in accordance with Policy 11 (Flood risk and prevention) of the 
HMWP 2013.

Ecology

9.25 Policy 3 (Protection of habitats and species) of the HMWP (2013) sets out a 
requirement for minerals and waste development to not have a significant 
adverse effect on, and where possible, should enhance, restore or create 
designated or important habitats and species. The policy sets out a list of 
sites, habitats and species which will be protected in accordance with the 
level of their relative importance.  The policy states that development which 
is likely to have a significant adverse impact upon the identified sites, 
habitats and species will only be permitted where it is judged that the merits 
of the development outweigh any likely environmental damage. The policy 
also sets out a requirement for appropriate mitigation and compensation 
measures where development would cause harm to biodiversity interests. 

9.26 Policy DM2 (Nature conservation, biodiversity and geodiversity) of the New 
Forest Local Plan Section 2: Development Management Policies [NFLPS2] 
(2014) expect development proposals to incorporate features to encourage 
biodiversity and retain and, where possible, enhance existing features of 
nature conservation value within the site. Where development is permitted, 
the planning authority will use conditions and/or planning obligations to 
minimise the damage, provide mitigation and site management measures 
and, where appropriate, compensatory and enhancement measures.

Page 23



9.27 The initial response received from the County Ecologist raised some 
concerns about the potential impact on protected species. Further 
information was requested on the potential impact on protected species and 
the proposed hay bales. Additional information was provided by the applicant 
and the Ecologist raises no objection subject to conditions to ensure the 
following:
 The inclusion of a strip of a minimum of 1 metre wide of grass retained 

and maintained undisturbed between the hedgerows along the site 
boundaries and the route for machinery to maintain the external face of 
the bunds and bale walls. This would act as a buffer and 
foraging/commuting habitat for reptiles;

 The inclusion of additional foraging and commuting bat installations, 
such as bat boxes to mitigate against impact on bats during the works. 
These would be installed prior to commencement to enhance the 
habitats for bats in the short term until restoration is established;

 Measures to ensure that the maintenance and removal of the proposed 
bail acoustic mitigation walls will not result in the killing/injury of 
protected and notable species;

 A precautionary hedgerow clearance method should be adopted being 
phased and under the supervision of a licenced/dormouse ecologist 
searching for dormouse summer/winter nests and checking the base of 
the hedge to be removed and other affected suitable areas for 
herpetofauna and small mammals; and

 A detailed strategy for planting and management of the proposed 
restoration to provide site-wide biodiversity enhancement features to be 
submitted and approved by the Minerals Planning Authority.

9.28 These are reflected in conditions in integral appendices B and C of this 
report. Therefore the proposals are considered to be in accordance with 
Policy 3 (Protection of habitats and species) of the HMWP 2013 and 
NFLPS2 (2014) Policy DM2 (Nature conservation, biodiversity and 
geodiversity).

Restoration

9.29 Policy 9 (Restoration of minerals and waste developments) of the HMWP 
(2013) states that temporary minerals development should be restored to 
beneficial after-uses consistent with the development plan. The restoration 
should be in keeping with the character and setting of the local area, and 
should contribute to the delivery of local objectives for habitats, biodiversity 
or community use. The restoration should be phased throughout the life of 
the development.

9.30 The proposal includes a revised restoration plan. This is a phased plan that 
states each phase of extraction will be restored within a year of completion 
of extraction. Each phase will therefore be restored in order and will 
commence a 5 year aftercare period upon each completion. Only one phase 
will be extracted at a time. The first phase is currently being restored for 
ecological habitat. This includes water features for the drainage and flood 

Page 24



mitigation for the site and a permissive footpath. The other phases are to all 
be restored back to agricultural use of equal or better quality than that 
existing before extraction with restored hedgerows as show on the Revised 
Restoration Plan (26G-01-15 Rev B), submitted in February 2018.

9.31 The revised restoration scheme is considered to have additional benefits 
over the existing restoration plan as it includes an improved route for the 
permissive footpath and a Section 106 legal agreement for public access to 
the footpath for 20 years from the completion of phase 1 restoration. The 
proposed conditions in integral appendix B and C also include the 
requirement to submit and have approved additional biodiversity 
enhancements.

9.32 Public representation raised concern about the sourcing of the inert waste 
material to be imported to the site for the restoration. The applicant runs the 
Manor Farm waste recycling facility, Pennington, 4.6km east of Downton 
Manor Farm Quarry. This is likely to be a key source of this material. The 
MPA is satisfied that the proposed restoration scheme is achievable. 

9.33 Therefore it is considered that the restoration plan proposed is in accordance 
with Policy 9 (Restoration of minerals and waste developments) of the 
HMWP. 

Public access 

9.34 Policies 5 (Protection of the countryside) and 9 (Restoration of minerals and 
waste developments) of the HMWP (2013) support enhancements to the 
rights of way network. In addition, Paragraph 75 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework [NPPF], the Corporate Priorities within the Hampshire 
Walking Strategy, and the priorities within the Hampshire Countryside 
Access Plan also all support enhancements to the rights of way network.

9.35 The proposed Revised Restoration Plan (26G-01-15 Rev B), submitted in 
February 2018, shows for a permissive footpath around the phase 1 area of 
the site. The supporting statements of the applications state this would be 
delivered and opened for use by the public with the completion of the phase 
1 restoration. Phase 1 is due for completion of its restoration, in 2018.

9.36 Discussions between the Minerals Planning Authority [MPA], Hampshire 
Rights of Way and the applicant have secured a permissive footpath to be 
maintained and kept open for public use for 20 years, commencing upon 
completion of the phase 1 restoration. This will be secured by a Section 106 
agreement. The route was revised to that shown on the Revised Restoration 
Plan (26G-01-15 Rev B) to allow for a circular route around the ecologically 
restored area of the site with access from Shorefield Lane to the south and 
Christchurch Road to the north.

9.37 Councillor Carpenter’s consultation response highlights concern over access 
for the footpath on Shorefield Lane with respect to users parking vehicles at 

Page 25



this entrance to the footpath. Shorefield Lane is a private road owned by the 
applicant, which leads onto the adopted (public) Blackbush Road. The 
parking of vehicles is an issue of driving law and highway and driving safety 
and rules, rather than a consideration for these planning applications. On 
balance, it is considered that the proposed footpath provides the community 
benefit of a linear permissive footpath with the best integration into the 
existing rights of way network and has best accessibility for the local 
population of Milford on Sea located south east of the site.

Impact on amenity and health

9.38 Policy 10 (Protecting public health, safety and amenity) of the HMWP (2013) 
requires that any development should not cause adverse public health and 
safety impacts, and unacceptable adverse amenity impacts. Also, any 
proposal should not cause an unacceptable cumulative impact arising from 
the interactions between waste developments and other forms of 
development. The National Planning Policy Guidance [NPPG] (Minerals) 
includes paragraphs 20, 21 and 22 which address how planning authorities 
should determine the impact of noise and what are appropriate noise 
standards for normal operations and short term activities; the MPA should 
consider whether or not noise from the proposed operations would:
 Give rise to a significant adverse effect; 
 Give rise to an adverse effect; and 
 Enable a good standard of amenity to be achieved.

9.39 Policy CS5 (Safe and healthy communities) of the NFCS (2009) states  
developments should not result in pollution or hazards which prejudice the 
health and safety of communities and their environments, including nature 
conservation interests and the water environment and that appropriate 
mitigation measures may be required to enable development.

9.40 The application proposes that the new development and running of the 
quarry site would continue with the same approach to working practice and 
amenity impact, with continued control by use of conditions, as the existing 
development permitted under planning permission 16/10641. 

9.41 The proposal includes the use of a bale wall to provide noise and visual 
mitigation for the local residential sensitive receptors to the west of the 
proposed extraction extension area. Additional information was provided by 
the applicant to show the design and management of the bale walls in order 
to ensure they maintain their noise and visual properties and mitigate their 
potential impact to biodiversity and safety. Of particular note is Shorefield 
Caravan Park that shares the majority of the boundary with the extension 
area. The quarry site has a deep screen of trees and vegetation along its 
perimeter. This significantly limits the views into the quarry, although there 
are some points along the perimeter where there are limited views in. The 
bale wall is proposed to be 3 metres high, and would block those views and 
provide noise mitigation. 

Page 26



9.42 The Noise Assessment submitted as part of the ES is based upon 
paragraphs 20-22 of the NPPG. It takes into account the mitigation provided 
by the bale wall for both temporary and normal works. The report contains 
the following:
 It is based upon the same 4 noise measuring positions as those used for 

the original quarry application. These reflect the sensitive receptors 
surrounding the site;

 The assessment states that no accumulative impact is predicted;
 Temporary works noise levels, for less than 8 weeks per year, are 

identified in the worst case scenario to be 64.8dB during phase 7 at 
position C (south caravan site). This is below the 70dB temporary 
daytime noise limit referred to as being regarded as the normal 
maximum in paragraph 22 of the NPPG; and

 Normal operations noise levels are identified in the worst case scenario 
to be 51.6dB during phase 7 at position C (south caravan site).

9.43 Paragraph 21 of the NPPG states that a MPA should aim to establish a 
noise limit at noise-sensitive property that does not exceed the background 
noise level by more than 10dB during normal working hours (0700-1900). 
Where it would be difficult not to exceed the background level by more than 
10dB without imposing unreasonable burdens on the mineral operator, the 
limit set should be as near as practical and in any event, the total noise from 
operations should not exceed 55dB.

9.44 The noise assessment states the following:

Noise receptor 
position

Background 
noise level 
(dB)

Target +10dB 
above background 
or 55dB maximum 
(dB)

Calculated 
operational noise 
level (dB)

A (Downton Manor 
Farm cottages)

47 55 51.2

B (north caravan 
park)

45 55 50.5

C (south caravan 
park)

41 51 51.6

Values taken from Noise Assessment Report, June 2017

9.45 The maximum calculated normal operation noise at positions A, B and D are 
all identified as not having a significant increase above the background 
noise. The maximum calculated at position C is 10.6dB above the 
background level. This would occur during works in phase 7. 

9.46 The ES includes a noise assessment that demonstrates the bale wall is 
sufficient to reduce noise at the sensitive receptors to an acceptable level. 
The report proposes conditions to any permission granted that would limit 
noise at the nearest residential properties to stated levels.

Page 27

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/minerals


9.47 The application also includes for noise management by compliance with the 
existing, conditioned site working hours, maintenance of plant in accordance 
with manufacturer recommendations and the use of low tonal/white noise 
reversing bleepers. The application also proposed a condition to submit and 
have approved a revised noise monitoring scheme to that required by 
condition 11 of PP 16/10641. The consultation response from the 
Environmental Health Officer agrees with the noise assessment and states 
that noise limits should be conditioned to 55 dB at the noise receptor 
positions for normal operations and to 70dB for works to facilitate site 
preparation, restoration and construction.

9.48 In order to address air quality and dust, the proposal includes an air quality 
assessment in the ES that states:
 The proposed working shall have progressive extraction and restoration 

to minimise the areas of exposed ground to reduce dust being whipped 
up by the wind;

 The use of a 3m high bale wall;
 The storage of soil and overburden continuing the on site practice of 3-

5m high profiled bunds which are seeded immediately and maintained; 
and

 Recognition of the existing Dust Management and Mitigation Scheme 
required by condition 10 of the planning permission 16/10641.

9.49 The application proposes to extend the practices of the existing Dust 
Management and Mitigation Scheme to cover the proposed extension to the 
excavation area.

9.50 The consultation responses from New Forest District Council Environmental 
Health Officers [EHOs] for pollution and protection are both for no objection 
with the following conditions:
 To submit and have approved an updated dust management and 

mitigation scheme to reflect the extension to the extract area including 
the locating of dust monitoring equipment closer to residential properties;

 To retain the existing condition of PP 16/10641for the limit of 100 daily 
HGV movements to and from the quarry site to limit health impacts of the 
vehicles;

 To continue of the limits to operating times at the site;
 To limit noise emitted from the site operations with stated limits as per 

the noise impact assessment, to not exceed 55 dB LAeq 1 hour at the 
boundary of noise sensitive premises;

 To limit the noise of works to facilitate site preparation, restoration and 
construction to not exceed 70 dB LAeq 1 hour at the boundary of noise 
sensitive premises with a time limit of 8 weeks in any one calendar year;

 The fitting of all vehicles working on the site with ‘white noise; type low 
tonal reversing alarms; and

 To ensure that all vehicles, pant and machinery operated on the site 
shall be maintained and operated in accordance with the manufacturers’ 
specifications at all times, and be fitted with and use effective silencers.  

Page 28



9.51 The public representations raise the issue of amenity impact on local 
residents from noise, dust and vibration. This included a review of the Noise 
Assessment that raised concerns about the methodology of the assessment 
including a request for additional mitigation measures for the sensitive 
receptor at position C.

9.52 In response to the public representation, the applicant submitted comments 
from their noise consultant. Generally, this clarifies the questions raised by 
the review and confirms the approach used is adequate. It states that the BS 
4142:2014 noise assessment standard is not appropriate in this case for a 
quarry noise assessment. The applicant confirms increasing the thickness of 
the noise mitigation bale wall from 1m will not improve its acoustic 
attenuation. In this submitted additional information, the applicant offered to 
amend the working hours for the proposed extraction extension area 
(phases 3-8) to 0800-1800 Monday to Friday, reducing the start time by 1 
hour. It is proposed that the existing quarry site would still retain the 
conditioned 0700-1800 Monday to Friday operating times. 

9.53 The public representation Review of the Noise Assessment and the 
applicant’s comments have be forwarded to the EHO should they wish to 
make any further comments in addition to their consultation response. No 
further comments have been received to date.

9.54 Due to the nature of the works and the distance from neighbouring 
properties, it is not considered that the proposal would cause any issues due 
to vibration.

9.55 The proposal does not include for any fixed lighting and condition 8 of the 
existing planning permission states no lighting is to be erected on the site. 
There have been no reports of odour issues have been recorded throughout 
the operation of the existing quarry site.

9.56 It is considered that the proposed development, including the noise and 
visual mitigation bale wall installed in accordance with the design drawing 
and management plan, has sufficiently demonstrated it will not have a 
significant detrimental impact on noise and visual amenity when considered 
with the proposed conditions. There is no information to suggest the 
proposals would cause noticeable vibrations at neighbouring premises. 
Therefore it is considered that proposals are in accordance with Policy 10 
(Protecting public health, safety and amenity) of the HMWP and Policy CS5 
(Safe and healthy communities of the NFCS (2009).

Cultural and Archaeological Heritage

9.57 Policy 7 (Conserving the historic environment and heritage assets) of the 
HMWP (2013) requires minerals and waste development to protect and, 
wherever possible, enhance Hampshire’s historic environment and heritage 
assets (designated and non-designated), including their settings unless it is 

Page 29



demonstrated that the need for and benefits of the development decisively 
outweigh these interests.

9.58 Planning permission 16/10641 includes condition 12 (Archaeology) to ensure 
implementation of the archaeological investigation and scheme. The County 
Archaeologist’s consultation response states no objection subject to the 
inclusion of a condition that this practice is continued for the proposed new 
areas of extraction. Therefore the proposal is in accordance with Policy 7 
(Conserving the historic environment and heritage assets) of the HMWP 
2013.

Highways impact

9.59 Policy 12 (Managing traffic) of the HMWP (2013) requires minerals and 
waste development to have a safe and suitable access to the highway 
network and where possible minimise the impact of its generated traffic 
through the use of alternative methods of transportation. It also requires 
highway improvements to mitigate any significant adverse effects on 
highway safety, pedestrian safety, highway capacity and environment and 
amenity.

9.60 Policy DM26 (Development generating significant freight movements) of the 
NFLPS2 (2014) require development that generates significant freight 
movements within the District should normally be located close to the main 
road network.

9.61 The proposal states that the daily number of HGV movements to and from 
the site will not increase and the existing haulage road and site access will 
continue to be used. The Highways Authority’s consultation response states 
no objection subject to the inclusion of conditions limiting daily HGV 
movements (condition 5) and conditions from the planning permission 
16/10641 being carried over any new permission. Public representation 
raised objection over the impact to highway safety the proposed would have 
on the A337 Christchurch Road.

9.62 Although it is recognised that the time period over which the quarry is 
operational will increase, the number of daily HGV movements would not 
change. Taking this into consideration, it is considered that the proposed 
development would not have a significant detrimental impact to highway 
safety. Therefore the proposal is in accordance with Policy 12 (Managing 
traffic) of the HMWP 2013 and Policy DM26 (Development generating 
significant freight movements) of the NFLPS2 (2014).

Soil Protection

9.63 Paragraph 112 of the NPPF (2012) states local planning authorities should 
take into account the economic and other benefits of the best and most 
versatile agricultural land. Policy 8 (Protection of soils) of the HMWP (2013) 
requires minerals and waste development to protect and, wherever possible, 

Page 30



enhance soils. It also states that development should not result in the net 
loss of best and most versatile agricultural land and gives provisions for the 
protection of soils during construction. The Agricultural Land Classification 
[ALC] system classifies land into five grades, with Grade 3 subdivided into 
Subgrades 3a and 3b. The best and most versatile land is defined as Grades 
1, 2 and 3a. 

9.64 It is noted that the current use of the land is for grazing and arable crop 
production. The proposed extraction site consists Grade 2 (very good– best 
and most versatile) (in the North West), Grade 3a (good – best and most 
versatile) (in the west) and Grade 3b (moderate) in the south of the site.

9.65 The restoration plan proposes the stripping of top soil, storage and reuse in 
the restoration of land back to agricultural use. The ground level of the 
restoration is to match the existing. Conditions would be added to any 
permission to ensure the protection of stripped top soil and to have 
assurance that the areas of agricultural restoration are done to a 
classification grade equal or better to the existing. The proposal is 
considered as acceptable and in accordance with Policy 8 (Protection of 
soils) of the HMWP as well as paragraph 112 of the NPPF.

Potential pollution associated with the development

9.66 National Planning Practice Guidance states that Planning Authorities should 
assume that other regulatory regimes will operate effectively rather than 
seek to control any processes, health and safety issues or emissions 
themselves where these are subject to approval under other regimes 
(Paragraph 050 Reference ID: 28-050-20141016) 

9.67 Planning and permitting decisions are separate but closely linked. Planning 
permission determines if a development is an acceptable use of the land. 
Permitting determines if an operation can be managed on an ongoing basis 
to prevent or minimise pollution. 

Community benefits

9.68 A frequent concern of communities that host, or might host minerals and 
waste development is that there are no immediate benefits to ‘compensate’ 
for the inconvenience that occurs. 

9.69 As previously discussed, the applicant has agreed to enter into a Section 
106 legal agreement to secure a  permissive footpath to be maintained and 
kept open for public use for 20 years, commencing upon completion of the 
phase 1 restoration. 

9.70 In addition to the above, paragraph 5.59 of the HMWP (2013) states that 
there is an expectation that all ‘major’ minerals and waste development will 
be accompanied by a site Liaison Panel. The site has an existing liaison 
panel. This has not sat for some time. Appendices B and C includes 

Page 31

http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/waste/regulatory-regimes/


informatives supporting the re-establishment of a liaison panel if permission 
for the extension area were to be granted.

Conclusion

9.71 It is considered that the benefits of the proposed development outweigh the 
impacts to amenity and the surrounding countryside landscape. The 
development provides an additional 760,000 tonnes of sand and gravel 
mineral resources. The method of extraction, the number of HGV 
movements and the mitigation of impacts such as noise and dust are 
consistent with the existing quarry development.

9.72 It is considered that the proposed extension to the extraction area of the site 
would not have significant detrimental impacts on its neighbours when 
considered with the proposed mitigation. The environmental impacts 
identified for the proposals have been addressed in the Environmental 
Statement and the applications. The proposed revised restoration plan for 
the entire site is considered satisfactory with benefits to ecology, flood 
management and public access.  

9.73 The proposals include a significant extension in the lifespan of the quarry 
site, for an additional 15 years until June 2033. Therefore the main impact of 
these proposals is due to the change in the lifespan of the quarry.

9.74 It is therefore considered that the proposals would be in accordance with the 
relevant policies of the adopted Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) 
when considered with the recommended conditions proposed in integral 
appendices B and C of this report.

Appendices:
Integral Appendix A – Corporate or Legal Information
Integral Appendix B – Conditions for 17/11392
Integral Appendix C – Conditions for 17/11406
Appendix D – Location Plan
Appendix E – Existing site plan 26G-01-02 rev A
Appendix F – Proposed site plan 26G-01-04 rev A
Appendix G – Proposed restoration plan 26G-01-15 rev B

Page 32



Integral Appendix A

Links to the Strategic Plan
Hampshire maintains strong and sustainable economic 
growth and prosperity:

No

People in Hampshire live safe, healthy and independent 
lives:

No

People in Hampshire enjoy a rich and diverse 
environment:

No

People in Hampshire enjoy being part of strong, 
inclusive communities:

No

OR

This proposal does not link to the Strategic Plan but, nevertheless, requires a 
decision because:
The proposal does not link to the Corporate Strategy but, nevertheless, requires a 
decision because the proposal is an application for planning permission and 
requires determination by the County Council in its statutory role as the minerals 
and waste planning authority.

Section 100 D - Local Government Act 1972 - background documents

The following documents discuss facts or matters on which this report, or an 
important part of it, is based and have been relied upon to a material extent in 
the preparation of this report. (NB: the list excludes published works and any 
documents which disclose exempt or confidential information as defined in 
the Act.)

Document Location
17/11406
NF177
Downton Manor Farm Quarry, Downton, 
Milford on Sea  
(Extension of Downton Manor Farm Quarry 
to extract sand and gravel and for 
restoration back to agriculture  

Hampshire County Council

Page 33



Integral Appendix B

Integral Appendix B – Conditions for 17/11392

Timescale

1. The extraction of sand and gravel shall cease fifteen years from the date of 
this permission hereby granted. The site shall be restored one year from 
ceasing extraction, in accordance with the restoration scheme approved 
under condition 19 (Restoration).

Reason: In accordance with Policies 5 (Protection of the countryside), 6 
(South West Hampshire Green Belt) and 9 (Restoration of minerals and 
waste developments) of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013). 

Operating Times

2. No Heavy Goods Vehicles shall enter or leave the site, nor shall any plant or 
machinery be operated on the site, except between the hours 0700 and 
1800, Monday to Friday inclusive. There shall be no working on the site on 
Saturdays, Sundays or recognised Public Holidays.

Reason: In the interest of public amenity in accordance with Policy 10 
(Protecting public health, safety and amenity) of the Hampshire Minerals and 
Waste Plan (2013). 

Footpath

3. The permissive footpath, as shown on the Revised Restoration Plan, 
drawing 26G-01-15 Rev B, shall by constructed and open for public use prior 
to completion of the restoration of phase 1. The public access is to be 
maintained for a minimum of 20 years from the completion of the phase 1 
restoration in accordance with the Section 106 agreement.

Reason: In the interest of public amenity in accordance with Policies 6 
(South West Hampshire Green Belt), 9 (Restoration of quarries and waste 
developments) and 14 (Community benefits) of the Hampshire Minerals and 
Waste Plan (2013).

Highways

4. The concrete or bituminous surface of the first 100 metres of the haul road, 
measured from the public highway, is to be maintained in good condition for 
the duration of the development. The operator shall install equipment to 
ensure that no vehicle leaves the site unless it is sufficiently clean to prevent 
mud being carried on to the highway.

Reason: In the interest of highway safety in accordance with Policy 12 
(Managing traffic) of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013).

Page 34



Integral Appendix B

5. Heavy Good Vehicle (HGV) movements to and from the site shall be 
restricted to 100 per day, with arrival at the site and departure from it 
counted as separate movements. A daily record of HGV movements shall be 
kept and made available to the Mineral Planning Authority within seven days 
of a written request. 

Reason: In the interest of public amenity and highway safety in accordance 
with Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Policy 12 (Managing 
traffic).

6. The site access shall be maintained, including surface water drainage, in 
accordance with the approved drawings 6940-04E, 6940-08 A, 5636-02 C, 
5636-03 D (approved02 February 2012).

Reason: In the interest of controlling emissions to water and highway safety 
in accordance with Policies 10 (Protecting public health, safety and amenity) 
and 12 (Managing traffic) of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013).

7. The operator shall keep the visibility splays of 4.5 metres by 120 metres, of 
the site access, free of obstacles for the duration of the development.

Reason: In the interest of highway safety in accordance with Policy 12 
(Managing traffic) of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013).

Lighting

8. There shall be no lighting erected on the site.

Reason: In the interest of light pollution for public amenity and ecological 
impact in accordance with (2013) Policies 3 (Protection of habitats and 
species) and 10 (Protecting public health, safety and amenity) of the 
Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013).

Noise

9. All vehicles, plant and machinery operated on the site shall be maintained in 
accordance with the manufacturers specifications at all times, and shall be 
fitted with and use effective silencers. All vehicles shall be fitted with white 
noise type low tonal reversing alarms.

Reason: In the interest of public amenity in accordance with Policy 10 
(Protecting public health, safety and amenity) of the Hampshire Minerals and 
Waste Plan (2013).

10. The noise emitted from normal mineral extraction operations shall not 
exceed the daytime noise limits specified as dB LAeq 1 hour (free field) at 
the boundary of the specified noise sensitive premises specified in table 16 
on page 20 of the noise impact assessment dated 08 June 2017- document 

Page 35



Integral Appendix B

ref: BS/v1.0. At all other locations daytime noise limits shall not exceed 
55dB(A) LAeq,1h (free field) at the boundary of any noise sensitive premises. 

Reason: In the interest of public amenity in accordance with Policy 10 
(Protecting public health, safety and amenity) of the Hampshire Minerals and 
Waste Plan (2013).

11. The noise level from work such to facilitate essential site preparation, 
restoration and construction of baffle mounds shall not exceed 70 dB LAeq 1 
hour (free field) at the boundary of noise sensitive premises for a period of up 
to eight weeks in one calendar year. A log of all temporary works shall be 
recorded in an environmental logbook which shall be kept at the site office. 
All records shall be kept for a period of 2 years and shall show the dates and 
duration of these works and shall be available to the mineral planning 
authority for inspection upon request. 

Reason: In the interest of public amenity in accordance with Policy 10 
(Protecting public health, safety and amenity) of the Hampshire Minerals and 
Waste Plan (2013).

12. Prior to commencement of the soil stripping of phase 3, as shown on the 
Proposed Extraction Phasing Plan, drawing 26-G-01-04 Rev A, a revised 
Noise Monitoring and Attenuation Scheme shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Minerals Planning Authority. This shall cover the 
development hereby approved and incorporate the Noise Monitoring and 
Attenuation Scheme submitted and approved in writing by the Mineral 
Planning Authority on 26 July 2010. The approved scheme shall be 
implemented and adhered to at all times thereafter and maintained until all 
approved restoration works have been completed.

Reason: In the interest of public amenity in accordance with Policy 10 
(Protecting public health, safety and amenity) of the Hampshire Minerals and 
Waste Plan (2013). This is a prior commencement condition to ensure public 
health and amenity.

Dust

13. Prior to commencement of the soil stripping of phase 3, as shown on the 
Proposed Extraction Phasing Plan, drawing 26-G-01-04 Rev A, a revised 
Dust Management and Mitigation Scheme shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Minerals Planning Authority. The scheme shall 
consider all aspects of the works being undertaken on site and will 
supersede the Dust Mitigation Scheme submitted and approved in writing by 
the Mineral Planning Authority on 26 July 2010. The approved scheme shall 
be implemented and adhered to at all times thereafter and maintained until 
all approved restoration works have been completed.

Reason: In the interest of public amenity in accordance with Policy 10 
(Protecting public health, safety and amenity) of the Hampshire Minerals and 

Page 36



Integral Appendix B

Waste Plan (2013). This is a prior commencement condition to ensure public 
health and amenity.

Archaeology

14. The archaeological investigation and scheme, comprising Thames Valley 
Archaeological Services, Project Specification for Downton Manor Farm, 
dated December 2004, approved in writing by the Mineral Planning Authority 
on 26 July 2010, shall have its implementation extended to cover the entire 
site, including all phased extraction areas, as shown on the Proposed 
Extraction Phasing Plan, drawing 26-G-01-04 Rev A, shall be implemented 
by a suitably qualified contractor as approved.

Reason: In the interest of public amenity in accordance with Policy 7 
(Conserving the historic environment and heritage assets) of the Hampshire 
Minerals and Waste Plan (2013).

Landscape

15. The approved bund scheme, comprising of section 5 of the Land & Mineral 
Management Ltd submission, drawings 908 PL1, 908 PL2, 908 PL3 and 
Discharge of Condition 16 - Bunding And Planting report, dated January 
2010 (approved by the Mineral Planning Authority - 26 July 2010), shall be 
implemented as agreed. The appearance of the temporary bunds are to be 
maintained in accordance with the approved details until they are removed 
as part of the approved site restoration works, as shown on the Revised 
Restoration Plan, drawing 26G-01-15 Rev B.

Reason: In the interest of public amenity in accordance with Policies 10 
(Protecting public health, safety and amenity) and 13 (High-quality design of 
minerals and waste development) of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste 
Plan (2013).

16. The bund planting and tree screen planting scheme, comprising of section 5 
of the Land & Mineral Management Ltd submission, drawings 908 PL1, 908 
PL2, 908 PL3 and Discharge of Condition 16 - Bunding and Planting report, 
dated January 2010 (approved by the Mineral Planning Authority - 26 July 
2010), shall be implemented and maintained as agreed.

Reason: In the interest of public amenity in accordance with Policies 10 
(Protecting public health, safety and amenity) and 13 (High-quality design of 
minerals and waste development) of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste 
Plan (2013).

Extraction Phasing

17. The site shall be worked in accordance with the approved Phasing/Working 
Plans, drawing numbers 26G-01-04 Rev A to 26G-01-14 Rev A. Minerals 
Extraction shall be carried out sequentially in phase number order as shown 

Page 37



Integral Appendix B

on the Proposed Extraction Phasing Plan, drawing 26-G-01-04 Rev A. There 
shall only be extraction in one phase area at any one time. There shall not 
be more than two phases unrestored at any one time.

Reason: In the interest of the satisfactory working and public amenity in 
accordance with Policies 6 (South West Hampshire Green Belt), 8 
(Protection of soils) and 9 (Restoration of minerals and waste developments) 
of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013).

Restoration

18. Each phase shall be restored within 1 year of completion of extraction in 
accordance with the Revised Restoration Plan, drawing 26G-01-15 Rev B, 
and the revised Restoration and Management Scheme as approved under 
condition 19 (Restoration).

Reason: In the interest of the satisfactory working and restoration of the site 
in accordance with Policies 6 (South West Hampshire Green Belt) and 9 
(Restoration of minerals and waste developments) of the Hampshire 
Minerals and Waste Plan (2013).

19. Prior to commencement of the restoration of phase 3, a revised detailed 
Restoration and Management Scheme shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Minerals Planning Authority. Phase 1 shall be restored to 
ecological habitat and flood attenuation. Phases 2-11 are to be restored to 
agricultural use with woodland and hedgerows. All restoration and aftercare 
shall be in accordance with the Restoration and Management Scheme, the 
Revised Restoration Plan, drawing 26G-01-15 Rev B, and documents 
submitted and approved under condition 20 (Restoration planting).

Reason: In the interest of the satisfactory working and restoration of the site 
in accordance with Policies 6 (South West Hampshire Green Belt) and 9 
(Restoration of minerals and waste developments) of the Hampshire 
Minerals and Waste Plan (2013).

20. Prior to commencement of the restoration of phase 3, fully detailed planting 
plans, planting specification and 5 year maintenance, management and 
establishment plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Minerals Planning Authority. This scheme shall demonstrate satisfactory 
provision of site-wide biodiversity enhancement features. All planting and 
aftercare of the site shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
scheme.

Reason: In the interest of the satisfactory working and restoration of the site 
in accordance with Policies 3 (Protection of habitats and species), 6 (South 
West Hampshire Green Belt) and 9 (Restoration of minerals and waste 
developments) of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013).

Page 38



Integral Appendix B

Importation of Waste

21. No waste shall be imported to the site other than inert waste to restore the 
site in accordance with schemes that have been approved under condition 
19 (Restoration).

Reason: In the interest of the satisfactory working and restoration of the site 
in accordance with Policies 6 (South West Hampshire Green Belt), 8 
(Protection of soils) and 9 (Restoration of minerals and waste developments) 
of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013).

Groundwater

22. Operational flood water management shall be installed and maintained in 
accordance with the submitted scheme set out in the Environmental 
Statement, Chapter 8 – Hydrology, Hydrogeology and Flood Risk report.

Reason: To prevent flooding in accordance with Policies 10 (Protecting 
public health, safety and amenity) and 11 (Flood risk and prevention) of the 
Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013).

23. Restoration site drainage shall be installed and maintained in accordance 
with the submitted scheme set out in the Environmental Statement, Chapter 
8 – Hydrology, Hydrogeology and Flood Risk report and revisions stated in 
the Post Restoration Site Drainage Provision Technical Note and Drainage 
System Maintenance Schedule (dated February 2018).

Reason: To address) Policies 9 (Restoration of minerals and waste 
developments), 10 (Protecting public health, safety and amenity) and 11 
(Flood risk and prevention) of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan 
(2013).

24. The SINC protection and pH monitoring scheme, comprising section 12 of 
the Land & Mineral Management Ltd submission pH and stream flow 
monitoring report and 0001-DV53403-01, dated March 2010 (approved by 
the Mineral Planning Authority - 26 July 2010), shall be implemented and 
maintained as agreed.

Reason: To address Policies 4 (Protection of the designated landscape), 8 
(Protection of soils) and 10 (Protecting public health, safety and amenity) of 
the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013).

Aftercare

25. The site aftercare scheme, comprising updated Section 11 of the submission 
titled Aftercare – Pursuant to Condition 23, dated May 2010 (approved by 
the Mineral Planning Authority - 25 August 2012), shall be implemented as 
agreed and be carried out for a period of 5 years from completion of 
restoration.

Page 39



Integral Appendix B

Reason: In the interest of the satisfactory working, restoration and aftercare 
of the site in accordance with Policies 6 (South West Hampshire Green Belt) 
and 9 (Restoration of minerals and waste developments) of the Hampshire 
Minerals and Waste Plan (2013).

Removal of Permitted Development

26. Notwithstanding the provisions of Parts 4, 7 and 16 Schedule 2 of the Town 
and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 
2015 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that order): 
(i) fixed or mobile plant or machinery, buildings, structures and erections or 

private ways shall not be erected, extended, installed or replaced at the 
site without the prior agreement of the Waste Planning Authority in 
writing; and

(ii) no telecommunications antenna shall be installed or erected without the 
prior agreement of the Waste Planning Authority in writing.

Reason: In the interest of the protection of the amenities of the area in 
accordance with Policies 10 (Protecting public health, safety and amenity) 
and 13 (High-quality design of minerals and waste developments) of the 
Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan (2013).

Chemical Storage

27. Any storage of oils, fuels or chemicals on the site shall be in bunded tanks or 
in other tanks sited on impervious bases and surrounded by impervious 
bund walls. The bund capacity shall give 110% of the total volume of the 
capacity of all tanks included within the bund walls. All filling points, vents, 
gauges, sight glasses and overflow pipes shall be within the bund. 
Associated pipe work shall be located above ground level and protected 
from accidental damage.

Reason: To prevent pollution of the environment in accordance Policies 8 
(Protection of soils) and 10 (Protecting public health, safety and amenity) of 
the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013).

Ecology

28. The protection and mitigation for badger setts scheme, comprising Section 6 
of the submission titled NF177 Badgers email (dated Sept 2010), drawing 
689SK4 G and Aluco Ecology report (dated July 2010), approved in writing 
by the Mineral Planning Authority on 25 August 2012, shall be implemented 
as agreed and continue to be implemented at the site as defined in the 
scheme. Any necessary mitigation shall be carried out in accordance with 
the scheme.

Reason: To ensure the welfare of protected species in accordance with the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and the Conservation of 

Page 40



Integral Appendix B

Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (as amended) and in accordance 
with Policy 3 (Protection of habitats and species) of the Hampshire Minerals 
and Waste Plan (2013).

29. Prior to commencement of the soil stripping of phase 3, as shown on the 
Proposed Extraction Phasing Plan, drawing 26-G-01-04 Rev A, a scheme 
considering the entire site for additional foraging and commuting bat 
installations, such as bat boxes, to mitigate against impact on bats during the 
works, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Minerals 
Planning Authority. These shall be installed, in accordance with the scheme 
and qualified ecological guidance, prior to commencement of the soil striping 
of phases of the development to provide biodiversity enhancements to the 
habitats for bats in the short term until restoration is established.

Reason: To ensure the welfare of protected species in accordance with the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and the Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (as amended) and in accordance 
with Policy 3 (Protection of habitats and species) of the Hampshire Minerals 
and Waste Plan (2013). This is a prior commencement condition to ensure 
protection of biodiversity.

30. A precautionary hedgerow clearance method shall be adopted for all 
hedgerows to be removed. This method shall be phased and carried out 
under the supervision of a licenced/dormouse ecologist searching for 
dormouse summer/winter nests and checking the base of the hedge to be 
removed and other affected suitable areas for herpetofauna and small 
mammals prior to removal.

Reason: To ensure the welfare of protected species in accordance with the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and the Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (as amended) and in accordance 
with Policy 3 (Protection of habitats and species) of the Hampshire Minerals 
and Waste Plan (2013).

Topsoil

31. All topsoil and subsoil shall be stripped, moved, handled, stored and reused 
in accordance with the approved scheme, comprising revised section 7 of 
the Land & Mineral Management Ltd submission titled Methods of soil 
handling & operation timing report and Letter D5 JS 9 12.05.10, submitted 
May 2010 (approved by the Mineral Planning Authority - 26 July 2010).

Reason: To ensure the management of soils and to ensure the land is 
satisfactorily restored in accordance with Policies 5 (Protection of the 
countryside) and 8 (Protection of soils) of the Hampshire Minerals and 
Waste Plan (2013).

Page 41



Integral Appendix B

Arboriculture

32. Any clearance of trees or shrubs on the site shall be undertaken only during 
time periods previously approved in writing by the Mineral Planning 
Authority.

Reason: In the interests of biodiversity, landscape character and visual 
amenity in accordance with Policies 5 (Protection of the countryside) and 10 
(Protecting public health, safety and amenity) of the Hampshire Minerals and 
Waste Plan (2013).

33. All existing trees and shrubs not within the extraction area or access road, 
including those previously planted around the perimeter of the site, shall be 
retained in a healthy condition and protected from damage for the duration of 
the development hereby approved. Any trees or shrubs which die, or are 
removed without permission or become seriously damaged or diseased shall 
be replaced in the next planting season with other of similar species and 
appropriate size as agreed in writing by the Mineral Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of biodiversity, landscape character and visual 
amenity in accordance with Policies 3 (Protection of habitats and species) 
and 5 (Protection of the countryside) of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste 
Plan (2013). 

Foul Water Scheme

34. The disposal of foul water scheme for the site, comprising section 8 of the 
Land & Mineral Management Ltd submission Scheme for the disposal of foul 
water, dated March 2010 (approved by the Mineral Planning Authority - 26 
July 2010), shall be implemented and maintained as approved.

Reason: To prevent pollution of the environment in accordance WITH 
Policies 5 (Protection of the countryside) and 8 (Protection of soils) of the 
Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013).

Plans

35. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 
the following approved plans:  
347/B, 26G-01-04 RevA, 26G-01-05 RevA, 26G-01-06 RevA, 26G-01-07 
RevA, 26G-01-08 RevA, 26G-01-09 RevA, 26G-01-10 RevA,26G-01-11 
RevA, 26G-01-12 RevA, 26G-01-13 RevA, 26G-01-14 RevA,26G-01-15 
RevB, 26G-01-20 Rev0, 435-3, 689-SK6B, 689-SK15B, 6940-04 E, 6940-
08 A, 5636-02 C, 5636-03 D, 908 PL1, 908 PL2, 908 PL3, 0001-DV53403-
01, 689SK4 G.

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

Page 42



Integral Appendix B

Notes to Applicant

1. For the purposes of matters relating to this decision Heavy Goods Vehicles 
(HGVs) are defined as vehicles over 3.5 tonnes un-laden.

2. In determining this planning application, the Mineral Planning Authority has 
worked with the applicant in a positive and proactive manner in accordance 
with the requirement in the National Planning Policy Framework (2012), as 
set out in the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (England) Order 2015.

3. This decision does not purport or convey any approval or consent which may 
be required under the Building Regulations or any other Acts, including 
Byelaws, orders or Regulations made under such acts.

4. The County Council supports the re-establishment of the Liaison Panel 
between the site operator, Minerals Planning Authority and community 
representatives at a suitable frequency to facilitate effective engagement 
with stakeholders in the interests of promoting communication between the 
site operator and local community. Guidance on the establishment of liaison 
panels is available: http://documents.hants.gov.uk/planning-
strategic/LiaisonPanelProtocolforHCCsites-November2016.pdf

Page 43



Integral Appendix C 

Integral Appendix C – Conditions for 17/11406

Ancillary Development

1. The development hereby approved shall only be used for purposes 
ancillary to Planning Permission 17-11392, or any subsequent primary 
planning permission that supersedes 17-11392 on the site, and shall be 
implemented and operated in accordance with all the conditions applying to 
such permission for the duration of the development.

Reason: To ensure that the development is consistent with the use of the 
land as approved by the permission above.

Operating Times

2. In exception to condition 2 (Operating times) of Planning Permission 17-
11392, or any subsequent primary planning permission that supersedes 
17-11392 on the site, no Heavy Goods Vehicles shall enter or leave the 
new extraction site, identified as phases 3-8 on the Proposed Extraction 
Phasing/Geological Plan drawing, 26G-01-04 rev A, nor shall any plant or 
machinery be operated on the new extraction site, except between the 
hours 0800 and 1800, Monday to Friday inclusive. There shall be no 
working on the site on Saturdays, Sundays or recognised Bank Holidays.

Reason: In the interest of public amenity in accordance Policy 10 
(Protecting public health, safety and amenity) of the Hampshire Minerals 
and Waste Plan (2013). 

Noise mitigation

3. All noise mitigation bale walls as shown on the Working and Restoration 
Scheme drawings, 26G-01-05 rev A to 26G-01-14 rev A, and those 
required by conditions 4 and 5 (Noise mitigation), shall be fully installed 
before commencement of soil stripping prior to extraction of the relevant 
phase and shall be retained until completion of placing top soil for the 
restoration of that phase. The bale walls shall be constructed, maintained 
and removed in accordance with the Noise Mitigation Bale Wall Design 
Statement and the Noise Mitigation Bale Wall Design drawing and 
condition 7 (Bale wall ecology).

Reason: In the interest of public amenity in accordance with Policy 10 
(Protecting public health, safety and amenity) of the Hampshire Minerals 
and Waste Plan (2013). 

Page 44



Integral Appendix C

4. Prior to commencement of the stripping of phase 7 and the restoration of 
phase 6, additional noise mitigation bale walling in accordance with 
condition 3 (Bale walls) shall be added to provide a continuous wall for 
noise mitigation along the western perimeter of phases 6 and 7. This will 
border with the internal perimeter of the area known as ‘The Squeak’ 
historic landfill and is in addition to that shown on the Working and 
Restoration Scheme drawings 26G-01-10 rev A and 26G-01-11 rev A. The 
bale wall in this area shall be retained until the completion of the restoration 
of phase 7.

Reason: In the interest of public amenity in accordance Policy 10 
(Protecting public health, safety and amenity) of the Hampshire Minerals 
and Waste Plan (2013). 

5. It shall be ensured that the existing soil bund to the southern perimeter of 
phase 3 shall be a minimum height of 3 metres above local ground level 
prior to commencement of soil stripping of phase 3 and shall be retained as 
such until its removal as part of the restoration of phase 3.

Reason: In the interest of public amenity in accordance Policy 10 
(Protecting public health, safety and amenity) of the Hampshire Minerals 
and Waste Plan (2013). 

6. Additional noise mitigation bale walling in accordance with condition 3 
(Bale walls) shall be added to provide a continuous wall for noise mitigation 
along the location of the previous existing soil bund to the southern 
perimeter of phase 3 for the duration of the period between the removal of 
the existing soil bund in this location and the completion of the phase 3 
restoration as shown on the Working and Restoration Scheme drawing 
26G-01-07 rev A. Removal of the bund and the installation of the 
replacement bale wall shall be in steps along its length to ensure a minimal 
gap in distance and time in the noise mitigation barrier in order to maintain 
the required level of noise mitigation.

Reason: In the interest of public amenity in accordance Policy 10 
(Protecting public health, safety and amenity) of the Hampshire Minerals 
and Waste Plan (2013). 

Ecology

7. Prior to commencement of the installation of any noise mitigation bale 
walls, the applicant shall submit to and have approved in writing by the 
Minerals Planning Authority a noise mitigation bale wall maintenance and 
removal scheme that will propose procedures that will not result in the 
harm to protected and notable species.

Reason: To ensure that no harm comes to protected species in accordance 
with the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (as amended) and 

Page 45



Integral Appendix C

in accordance with Policy 3 (Protection of habitats and species) of the 
Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013). This is a pre-commencement 
requirement to the construction of the bale walls to ensure appropriate 
protection is in place before any work commences.

8. The development hereby permitted shall allow for a 9 metre wide buffer 
zone between the edge of mineral extraction and the site boundary 
woodland and hedgerows and shown on the Working and Restoration 
Scheme drawings, 26G-01-05 rev A to 26G-01-14 rev A, and the Noise 
Mitigation Bale Wall Design drawing. The buffer zone shall include a 
retained grass strip a minimum of 1 metre wide adjacent to the edge of the 
site boundary woodland and hedgerows. This grass strip shall be 
maintained as undisturbed grass and the access route for vehicles and 
machinery for the construction and maintenance of bunds and bale walls 
shall not encroach into it.

Reason:  To provide a buffer zone and foraging/commuting habitat for 
reptiles in accordance with the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as 
amended) and the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 
(as amended) and in accordance with Policy 3 (Protection of habitats and 
species) of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013). 

Ground Contamination

9. Prior to the commencement of the stripping of phase 6, the applicant shall 
submit to and have approved in writing by the Minerals Planning Authority 
a ground contamination assessment and method statement to demonstrate 
the existing contamination conditions and proposed approach to extraction, 
including a buffer zone as required, around the historic landfill known as 
‘The Squeak’ to the southern boundary of the phase 6 area.

Reason: to ensure the development hereby approved does not effect the 
containment of ground contamination at the historic landfill in accordance 
with Policies 6 (South West Hampshire Green Belt) and 10 (Protecting 
public health, safety and amenity) of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste 
Plan (2013). 

Plans

10. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 
the following approved plans:  26G-01-01 RevA, 26G-01-02 RevA, 
26G-01-03 RevA, 26G-01-04 RevA, 26G-01-05 RevA, 26G-01-06 RevA, 
26G-01-07 RevA, 26G-01-08 RevA, 26G-01-09 RevA, 26G-01-10 RevA, 
26G-01-11 RevA, 26G-01-12 RevA, 26G-01-13 RevA, 26G-01-14 RevA, 
26G-01-15 RevB, 26G-01-16 RevA, 26G-01-17 RevA, 26G-01-18 RevA, 
26G-01-20 Rev0, Bale Wall Design.

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

Page 46



Integral Appendix C

Notes to Applicant

1. For the purposes of matters relating to this decision Heavy Goods Vehicles 
(HGVs) are defined as vehicles over 3.5 tonnes un-laden.

2. In determining this planning application, the Mineral Planning Authority has 
worked with the applicant in a positive and proactive manner in accordance 
with the requirement in the National Planning Policy Framework (2012), as 
set out in the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (England) Order 2015.

3. This decision does not purport or convey any approval or consent which 
may be required under the Building Regulations or any other Acts, 
including Byelaws, orders or Regulations made under such acts.

4. The County Council supports the re-establishment of the Liaison Panel 
between the site operator, Minerals Planning Authority and community 
representatives at a suitable frequency to facilitate effective engagement 
with stakeholders in the interests of promoting communication between the 
site operator and local community. Guidance on the establishment of 
liaison panels is available: http://documents.hants.gov.uk/planning-
strategic/LiaisonPanelProtocolforHCCsites-November2016.pdf

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



Site Entrance

TITLE: Variation of condition 2, 20 and 29 of Permission 
No. 16/10641 (to adopt revised development, restoration 
plans and revised end dates to incorporate an extension
to the quarry) and Extension  of Downton Manor Farm 
Quarry to extract sand and gravel and for restoration back 
to agriculture at Downton Manor Farm Quarry, Milford on Sea
APPLICATION NUMBER: 17/11392 and 17/11406
SITE REFERENCE: NF177 Drawn by: Strategic Planning

REGULATORY COMMITTEE 
DATE 18 April 2018

R

Economy, Transport and Environment

Location Plan

Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2016

0 250 500125 M

Legend
Application 17/11406
Application 17/11392
SINC
cSINC
By-way open to all traffic
Bridleway
Footpath
Restricted byway

1:10,000

Extension Area
17/11406

Orignal Area
17/11392

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



R

O

A

D

D
L

EI

F
E

R

O

H
S

R

O

A

D

E

N

A

B

L
A

N
E

W

A

Y

E

Z

E

E

R

B

A

E

D

S

O

Caravan

R

H

S

U

B

D

A

O

R

S
H

O
R

E
F

IE
L
D

K

R

A

P

N

E

R

R

A

W

FB

Dane Park

Parks

Danehurst

P

a

t

h

K

Holiday Centre

Caravan Site

Camping and

FB

Caravan

Park

Caravan

1
5
m

T

r

a

c

k

Copse

Blackbush

Manor Farm

Downton

23m

21m

26m

P

a

t

h

Site

Ford

Farm Cottages

FB

Downton Manor

C

A

L

Warren Park

T1

92600N

92700N

92800N

92900N

93000N

93100N

93200N

93300N

93400N

93500N

93600N

4
2
7
0
0
0
E

4
2
7
1
0
0
E

4
2
7
2
0
0
E

4
2
7
3
0
0
E

4
2
7
3
0
0
E

4
2
7
4
0
0
E

4
2
7
4
0
0
E

4
2
7
5
0
0
E

4
2
7
5
0
0
E

4
2
7
6
0
0
E

4
2
7
6
0
0
E

4
2
7
7
0
0
E

4
2
7
7
0
0
E

4
2
7
8
0
0
E

4
2
7
8
0
0
E

4
2
7
9
0
0
E

4
2
7
9
0
0
E

4
2
8
0
0
0
E

4
2
8
0
0
0
E

Phase 2 (Current

working area)

Phase 1: Previously worked

area undergoing restoration

Phase 1: Previously worked

area undergoing restoration

4
2
7
0
0
0
E

4
2
7
1
0
0
E

4
2
7
2
0
0
E

Site Entrance

A

c

c

e

s

s

R

o

a

d

A

3
3
7

0m 50m 100m

Horse paddocks

Roffey Brothers

Horticultural Yard

OB Bund

T

S

 

B

u

n

d

T

S

 
B

u

n

d

OB Bund

T

S

 

B

u

n

d

T

S

 

B

u

n

d

T

S

 

B

u

n

d

KEY

Drawing No.

Site

Project

Drawing Title

Date

Scale

Client

File Ref. Revision

29 DALE LODGE ROAD

SUNNINGDALE

BERKSHIRE

SL5 0LY

T: 01344 624 709

M: 07736 083 383

david@dblc.co.uk

www.dblc.co.uk

APPLICATION BOUNDARY

EXISTING PHASE BOUNDARIES

SOIL/OVERBURDEN BUNDS

(as indicated)

EXISTING LIMIT OF EXTRACTION

EXISTING WOODLAND

EXISTING HEDGEROWS

EXISTING QUARRY AREA

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



R

O

A

D

D

L
EI

F

E

R
O

H
S

R

O

A

D

E

N

A

B

L
A

N
E

D
O

W

N
T

O
N

W

A

Y

E

Z

E

E

R

B

A

E

D

S

R
Y

L

D

A

O

Caravan

R

H

S

U

B

D

A

O
R

S
H

O
R

E
F

IE
L
D

K

R

A

P

N

E

R

R

A

W

FB

Dane Park

Parks

Danehurst

P

a

t

h

K

Holiday Centre

Caravan Site

Camping and

FB

Caravan

Park

Caravan

1

5

m

1
0
m

1
5
m

T

r

a

c

k

Copse

Blackbush

Manor Farm

Downton

2
0
m

2

0

m

26m

26m

P

a

t

h

Site

Ford

Farm Cottages

FB

Downton Manor

C

A

L

Warren Park

T1

4
2
6
9
0
0
E

4
2
7
0
0
0
E

4
2
7
1
0
0
E

4
2
7
2
0
0
E

4
2
7
3
0
0
E

4
2
7
4
0
0
E

4
2
7
5
0
0
E

4
2
7
6
0
0
E

4
2
7
7
0
0
E

4
2
7
8
0
0
E

4
2
7
9
0
0
E

Phase 11

Phase 10

Phase 9

Phase 8

Phase 7

Phase 6

Phase 5

Phase 4

Phase 3

Phase 1: Previously worked

area undergoing restoration

Phase 1: Previously worked

area undergoing restoration

4
2
7
0
0
0
E

4
2
7
1
0
0
E

4
2
6
9
0
0
E

4
2
7
0
0
0
E

4
2
7
1
0
0
E

4
2
7
2
0
0
E

4
2
7
3
0
0
E

4
2
7
4
0
0
E

4
2
7
5
0
0
E

4
2
7
6
0
0
E

4
2
7
7
0
0
E

4
2
7
8
0
0
E

4
2
7
9
0
0
E

0m 50m 100m

Phase 2 (Current

working area)

KEY

Drawing No.

Site

Project

Drawing Title

Date

Scale

Client

File Ref. Revision

29 DALE LODGE ROAD

SUNNINGDALE

BERKSHIRE

SL5 0LY

T: 01344 624 709

M: 07736 083 383

david@dblc.co.uk

www.dblc.co.uk

EXISTING QUARRY AREA

APPLICATION BOUNDARY

PROPOSED PHASE BOUNDARIES

PROPOSED LIMIT OF EXTRACTION

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



R

O

A

D

D

L

EI

F

E

R

O

H

R

O

A

D

E

N

A

R

O

A

D

C

H

R

I
S

T
C

H

U

R

C

H

W

A

Y

E

Z

E

E

R

B

A

E

D

S

S
H

O
R

E
F

IE
L
D

K

R

A

P

N

E

R

R

A

W

FB

Dane Park

Danehurst

P

a

t

h

FB

Park

Caravan

T

r

a

c

k

21m

Warren Park

2

6

.

0

2

0

.

0

2
2
.
0

1
4
.
0

1

6

.

0

1
8
.
0

2

0

.

0

2

4

.

0

2

4

.

0

2

6

.

0

R
O

A
D

I

n

f

o

r

m

a

l

 

P

a

t

h

2

5

.

0

1

7

.

0

2
3
.
0

2

5

.

0

2

3

.

0

2

3

.

0

2

4

.

0

2
1
.
0

2

2

.

0

21.
0

2

2

.

0

2

0

.

0

2

0

.

0

1
9
.
0

1
9
.
0

1

8

.

0

25
.0

2
5
.
0

2

2

.

0

1
7
.
0

1
6
.
0

1
5
.
0

1

6

.

0

1
5
.
0

1

4

.

0

1

3

.

0

1

2

.

0

1

7

.

0

2

6

.

0

2

6

.

0

2
5
.
0

Proposed
Agricultural

Land

Proposed
Agricultural

Land

Proposed
Agricultural

Land

1
4
.
0

Phase 1 area to be restored to linked water
bodies surrounded by amenity grassland with
native hedgerows and woodland planting

2

0

.

0

1

9

.

0

2

1

.

0

SHOREFIELD

CARAVAN PARK

SHOREFIELD

CARAVAN PARK

Phases 3 to 8 to be restored to
original ground levels. Land to be
restored to agricultural use

Phases 2, 9, 10 & 11 to
be restored to lower level
agricultural use.

Road access retained for Roffey
Brothers and Shorefield Park
caravan access road

Roffey Brothers soil
blending facility

Downton
Manor Farm

Carava
n tran

sport

access ro
ad

Shorefield Park caravan
access road retained and
integrated into restored site

Track

1
3
.
0

1
4
.
0

1

3

.

0

1

2

.

0

1

3

.

0

1
5
.
0

1

5

.

0

2
5

1

5

.

0

1
5
.
0

1

5

.

0

1
5
.
0

2

3

.

0

2

2

.

0

2

1

.

0

2

4

.

0

2

0

.

0

1

9

.

0

1

9

.

0

2

0

.

0

2
1
.
0

2
2
.
0

1
8
.
0

2

1

.

0

2

0

.

0

1
9
.
0

1

8

.

0

1

7

.

0

1

6

.

0

16.0

1

4

.

0

1

5

.

0

1

6

.

0

1

3

.

0

1
6
.
0

1

7

.

0

1
8
.
0

Loading/unloading
and turning area for
caravan transporters

Field
gates

Field
gate

Field
gate

Piped
outflow

Field
gate

Field
gate

Field
gate

Security
gate

Proposed

Perm
itted Path

Proposed Footpath to link
with Christchurch Road

P1

H2

P4

P7

P8

P10

P5

P6

P9

P3

H1

H3

H5

H4

H8

H9

H7

H6

H10

P2

P11

P12

P13

P14

P15

P16

1

2

.

0

H11

P17

1

8

.

0

1

4

.

0

1

5

.

0

1

6

.

0

Drawing No.

Site

Project

Drawing Title

Date

Scale

Client

File Ref. Revision

29 DALE LODGE ROAD

SUNNINGDALE

BERKSHIRE

SL5 0LY

T: 01344 624 709

M: 07736 083 383

david@dblc.co.uk

www.dblc.co.uk

KEY

APPLICATION BOUNDARY

EXISTING INFORMAL PATH

INDICATIVE CROSS SECTIONS (Refer

to Drawing Nos: 26G-01-16 to 18Rev.A)

EXISTING WOODLAND/HEDGEROWS

PROPOSED WOODLAND/HEDGEROWS

PROPOSED MEADOW/SPECIES RICH

GRASSLAND SURROUNDING WATER BODIES

EXISTING SURROUNDING

CONTOURS

AREAS RESTORED TO AGRICULTURAL USE

PROPOSED RESTORATION

CONTOURS

22.0

2
2
.
0

2
1
.
0

2
1
.
0

PROPOSED SHOREFIELD PARK

CARAVAN TRANSPORT ACCESS ROAD

PROPOSED TRACK

PROPOSED WATER BODY WITH

REEDS/MARGINAL AQUATIC PLANTS

PROPOSED PERMISSIVE PATH

0 5040302010 60 70 100 METRES9080

SCALE 1:2500

Woodland and Hedgerow Planting Operations

All planting and landscape operations to comply with 'Recommendations for General  Landscape

Operations' BS:4428 (1989).

Woodland Blocks (P1 to P17) - Plant Species, Spacing and Pattern

For woodland areas, trees & shrubs will be planted in two plant mixes, as follows:

1) Main mix comprising the central part of each bloc, randomly planted at spacings of between

3m centres and 2m centres which would be consistent with an average of 2.5m centres but which

would allow for some variety and avoids the development of a strict planting 'grid'. Plants will be

planted in random groups of 3 - 7 of each species. Species would include a selection of the

following, as per the Schedules of Plant Material above:

Common alder - Alnus glutinosa, Silver birch - Betula pendula , Blackthorn - Prunus spinosa, Wild cherry -

Prunus avium , Dogwood - Cornus sanguinea, Elder - Sambucus nigra, Field Maple (Acer campestre), Hawthorn

- Crataegus monogyna , Hazel - Corylus avellana , Holly - Ilex aquifolium, English oak - Quercus robur, Scots

pine (Pinus sylvestris), Spindle - Euonymus europaeus , Wayfaring tree - Viburnum lantana , Crack willow - Salix

fragilis, Goat willow - Salix caprea.

2) Fringe (ecotone) planting on the edge of the woodland blocks, acting as an interface between

the main woodland and the agricultural land. The width of the fringe area would vary between 2

and 4 metres, and would have a scalloped edge. Shrubby species to be planted within this area

would include Hawthorn, Blackthorn, Hazel, Field Maple and Dogwood. Plants would be planted

randomly in groups of 3 - 5 and would be spaced at approx. 1.5m centres.

Hedgerow Planting (H1 to H11) - Plant Species, Spacing and Pattern

New hedgerows will be planted at approximately 4 plants per metre in two staggered rows along

the intended route. There will be 300mm between rows and 500mm between plants in each row.

GRASSLAND SEEDING, WOODLAND & HEDGEROW PLANTING AND AFTERCARE

SPECIFICATIONS

Agricultural Grassland: Establishment and Maintenance Works

Restoration Earthworks and Drainage

The worked out quarry phases will be backfilled to create the formation level surface, which will be approximately 1.0m below

the final restoration contours indicated. The final subsoil and topsoil placement works will be undertaken in accordance with

the Modified Loose Tipping Procedure for Soil Replacement devised by Dr. Stuart McRae (November 2008) and available by

contacting David Brittain at DB Landscape Consultancy Ltd. (david@dblc.co.uk/07736083383).  The intention of the

Procedure is to avoid soil compaction, though if decompaction of the formation later is necessary prior to soil replacement,

cross ripping operations should be undertaken in accordance with Sheet 19: Soil Decompaction by Bulldozer Drawn Tines of

the DEFRA Good Practice Guide for Handling Soils (April 2000, available online from the National Archives).

As part of the restoration process, a grid of new gravel-filled drainage trenches at 15m centres will be installed running

broadly west to east to take water from the areas restored to agriculture to discharge it into the lake system. These will be

formed in the top of the formation level before the soils are placed. The system of gravel filled drainage trenches will be

designed and constructed prior to restoration of the subsoil and topsoil in order to replicate the drainage through the gravels

which have been removed. These will be installed in the second year following the Phase 1 restoration in the area west of the

lakes and extended southwards/westwards as each Phase is progressively restored.

Ground Preparation, Seeding and Maintenance

If necessary, weeds will be sprayed off using glyphosate, dead vegetation will be ploughed into the soil and the land will be

cultivated with a disc or power harrow to provide a fine, firm seed bed, then rolled with a Cambridge roller. Any stones or

other large objects in excess of 150mm  in any direction which are likely to impede cultivation or cropping shall be removed

by hand. The land would be seeded in spring or early autumn with a low intensity medium term grass ley to establish an

agricultural grassland. The seed mix sown at 35 kg/ha would be as follows (or similar):

 7kg Mongeta Italian Ryegrass

 7kg Aberavon Perennial Ryegrass

 7kg Aberstar Perennial ryegrass

 7kg Aberdart Perennial ryegrass

 4kg Promesse Timothy

 2kg Crusade White clover

 2kg Barblanca White clover

This mix is predominantly ryegrass which has the benefit of continued growth late into the season and is deep rooting giving

winter ground cover whilst developing soil structure. The sward will be topped during spring and summer as required, to

control weeds. Any severe weed infestation will be rectified by the topping of weed growth with the cutter bar set at 150mm

above ground level, local spot treatment as necessary with a suitable selective herbicide or a combination of the two

techniques.

Following successful grassland establishment (first 2 - 3 seasons following earthworks), the land shall be sown with maize,

winter wheat or barley for the next 2 seasons at least, in order to demonstrate that the structure and performance of the

replaced soil is of sufficient quality for long term agricultural use. Soil samples will be taken and analysed at twelve monthly

intervals and applications of inorganic fertilisers made to rectify any plant nutrient deficiencies shown in the results of the

analysis.  The application rates of fertilisers (and lime, if deemed necessary) will be adjusted to maintain the index for both

phosphate and potassium at Index 2, taking into account the requirements of the crop.

Meadow/Species Rich Grassland: Seeding and Maintenance Operations

These areas surrounding the lakes and water bodies would be developed and managed as more floristically rich grasslands

in order to benefit nature conservation and help mitigate the effects of the mineral extraction works.

Restoration Earthworks and Drainage

Soils will be loosely replaced in these areas using the same methodology as for the agricultural grassland areas, as

above.However, no gravel-filled drainage trenches would be installed prior to final soiling operations. Soil would be cultivated

as above in preparation for seeding operations. The land would be seeded by a combination of either hay spreading using

locally sourced hay from a suitable species rich meadow and/or seeded with an appropriate seed mix, preferably following

soil analysis post restoration earthworks A potentially suitable seed mix is as follows:

Areas would be seeded in early Spring

at a rate of c. 5g/sq.m (50kg.ha). Seed

would be lightly covered by chain

harrow and rolled in with a Cambridge

roller.

The meadow/species rich grassland areas are likely to produce a flush of annual

weeds from the soil in the first growing season, which will be controlled by topping

or mowing. A minimum of three cuts will be undertaken in the first year (when the

crop exceeds c. 15cm) with the clippings removed or raked to the edge. This

regime may also be required in the second or third year.

In the long term, grassland will be left un-cut from spring through to late July/early

August to give the sown species an opportunity to flower and will avoid the bird

nesting season. After flowering a cut will be undertaken to approx. 50mm sward

height. The 'hay' must be left in situ to dry and shed seed for 1-7 days, depending

on prevailing weather conditions, then collected and removed fro the site.

Re-growth during late summer/early autumn should be arrested by regular

topping/mowing or via after-math grazing with an appropriate number of sheep. If

necessary, weed control (other then mowing) would involve hand-pulling (i.e woody

species) and/or the targeted use of suitable herbicides for docks/thistles or other

invasive and undesirable species

Proposed Marginal and Emergent Vegetation

The existing and proposed water bodies have some areas of naturally regenerated

reed growth around their edges and it is considered that such vegetation will

colonise the edges of all the water bodies over time. However, if deemed necessary,

selected marginal and emergent plants would be added in places to improve

species diversity and variety. Species would be selected from the following broad

pallete:

Herbicide would be applied along the length of each new hedge in a c. 1m wide band. Herbicide to be applied

only by qualified personnel in accordance with manufacturers recommendations

Replacement of Losses and Shelter Adjusment

Losses would be replaced like for like for the first three seasons after planting, and thereafter only with those

species which appear to be thriving on site, to achieve minimum 90% stocking after five years.  All natural

regeneration of desirable species arising within planting areas would be accepted to boost stocking density.

Shelters and stakes which become loose, over-tight or broken would be re-firmed and adjusted annually.

Strimming  (Provisional)

If deemed necessary, and in addition to herbicide application as above, planting areas would be strimmed in

early/mid spring and/or mid/late summer to manage the encroachment of undesirable weeds and to keep the

grass areas between the plants tidy.

Annual Aftercare Report and Meeting: An annual aftercare report will be submitted to the LPA in

autumn/winter which summarises the previous years' aftercare operations and proposals for the forthcoming

year. An aftercare meeting (consisting of the operator, the landowner (or agent), the LPA and tenant farmer)

will be held the following spring to inspect the land, discuss the report and agree on actions.

The hedgerow would comprise mainly hawthorn (c. 50%) with other species randomly spaced throughout the

hedge in groups of 1 - 3. Other species would include those listed above to be included in the fringe areas on

the edge of woodland blocks.

Protection from Rabbits

All 40 - 60cm transplants (except Hawthorn) will be protected by 60cm Tubex shelters supported by 90cm x

32mm x 32mm treated softwood or cleft chestnut stakes.Hawthorn would be protected by 60cm clear spirals

supported by 90cm bamboo canes.

All containerised plants (Holly) will be protected from rabbits by 60m Netlon guards supported by 90cm x 32mm

x 32mm treated softwood or cleft chestnut stakes. All supports will be well secured in the ground and left upright

and wind-firm on completion.

Woodland and Hedgerow Aftercare Operations (Duration 5 Years)

Weed Control

All grass and weeds in a minimum 80cm diameter spot around each plant would be controlled by two

applications of glyphosate herbicide (eg. Roundup) during early/mid spring and again during mid/late summer

for the first three seasons and then as deemed necessary thereafter.

P4

REFERENCE FOR PLANTING BLOCK

OR HEDGEROW AS PER THE

SCHEDULES OF PLANT MATERIAL

RevA: Changes to lakes to more closely reflect existing situation,

consequent changes to woodland planting

RevB: Changes to route of proposed public Footpath, addition of

seeding and planting notes including Schedules, addition of wet flushes

EXISTING WET FLUSHES

Note: The site drainage system and its management/maintenance is

detailed in the following report: 'Technical Note: Post Restoration Site

Drainage - Provision of Additional Information to Hampshire County

Council' dated February 2018 by BCL Consultant Hydrologists Limited.

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of previous meeting
	6 Downton Manor Farm Quarry, Downton, Milford on Sea
	Appendix D
	Appendix E
	Appendix F
	Appendix G


